MR. BIDDLE:

Ribbentrop is indicted under all four counts. He joined the Nazi
Party in 1932. By 1933 he had been made Foreign Policy Adviser to
Eitler, and in the same year the representative of the Nazi Party on
Foreign Policy. 'In 1934 he was appointed Delegate for Disarmament
wuestions, and in 1935 Minister Plenipotentiary at Large, a capacity
in which he negotiated the Anglo-CGerman Naval Agreement in 1935 and
the Anti-Comintern Pact in 1936. On August 11, 1936, he was appointed
ambassador to England. @n February 4, 1938, he succeeded von Neurath
as Reichsminister for Foreign Affairs as part of the general reshuffle

which accompanied the dismissal of von Fritsch and von EBlomberg,

Crimes against Peace

Ribbentrop was not present at the Hoszback Conference held on
November 5, 1937, but on Jamiary 2, 1938, while still Ambassador to
England, he sent a memorandum to Hitler indicating his opinion that
a change in the status quo in the Bast in the German sense could only
be carried out by force and suggesting me thods to prevent England and
France from intervening in a Buropean war fought to bring about such a
change. When Ribbentrop became Foreign Minister Eitler told him that
Germany still had four problems to solve, Austria, Sudetenland, Memel
and Danzig, and mentioned the possibility of "some sort of a show-down'
or military settlement® for their solution.

On Februaryl2, 1938, Ribbentrop attended the conference between
Eitler and Schuschnigg at which Hitler, by threats of invasion, forced

Schuschnigg to grant a series of concessions designed to steengthen
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the Nazig in Austria, including the avpointment of Seyss—-Inquart as
minister of Security and Interior, with control over the Police.
Ribbentrop was in London when the occupation of Austria was actually
carried out aid, on the basis of information supplied him by Goering,
informed the British Gomrmment that Germany had not presented Ausiria
with an ultimatum, but had interwesrsd’ in Austria only to prevent civil
war, On March 13, 1938, Ribbentrop signed the law incorporating Austria
into thelGerman Reich.

Ribbentrop participated in the aggressive plans against Czecho-
slovakia. Beginning in March 1938, he was in close touch with the
Sudeten German Pariy and gave them instructions which had the effect
of keeping the Sudeten German question on a live issue which might serve
as an excuse for the attadk. which Germany was planning against Czecho-
slovakia. In August 1938 he participated in a conference for the pur-
pose of obtaining Hungarian support in the event of a war with Czecho-
slovakia. After the Munich Pact he continued to bring diplomatic pres-—
sure with the object of occupying the remainder of Czechoslovakia. He
was instrumental in inducing the Slovaks to proclaim their independence.
He was present at the confersnce of ‘March 14-15, 1939, at which Eitler,
by threats.of invasion, compelled President Hacha to consent to the
German aoccupation of Czechoslovekia. After the German troops had
mérched in, Ribbentrop signed the law establishing a Protectorate over
Bohemia and Moravia.

Ribbentrop played a particularly significant role in the diplomatic
activity which led up to the attack on Poland. He participated in a
conference held on August 12, 1939, for the Hurpose of obtaining Italian

support if the attack should lead to a general Buropean War. Ribbentrop
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discussed the German demands with respect to Danzig and the Polish
Corridor with the British Ambassador in the period from August 25 to
August 30, 1939, when he knew that the German plans to attack Poland
had merely been temporarily postponed in an attempt to induce the
3ritish to abandon'their guarantee to the Poles, The way in whigh he
carried out these discussions makes it clear that he did not enter
them in good faith in an attempt to reaech a settlement of the diffi-
culties between Germany and Poland.

fibbentrop was advised in advance of the attack on Norway and
Denmark and of the attack on the Low Countries, and prepared the

vfficial Foreign 0ffice memoranda attempting to Justify these aggres-

sive actions,
Rivbentrop attended the conference on January 20, 1941, at which
Eitler and Mussolini discussed the proposed attack on Greece, and the
conference in Janmary 1941, at which Fitler obtained from Antonescu
permission for German tronps to go through Rumania for this attack. On
march 25, 1941, when Yugoslavia adhered to the Axis Tri-partite Pact,
Rivbentrop had assured Yugeslavia that Germany would respect its
sovereignty and territorial integrity. On March 27, 1941, he attended
the meeting, held after the coup d'etat in Yugoslevia, at which plane
were made to carry out Eitler'!'a announced intention to destroy Yugoslavia.
Rivbbentrop attended a conference in May 1941 with Hitler and An-
tonescu relating to Rumania participation in the attéck on the U.S.S.R.
He also consulted with Rosenberg in the preliminary planning for the
political exploitation of Soviet territories and in July 1941, after

the outbreak of war, urged Japan to attack the Soviet Union.

16981



War Crimes and Crimes against Fumanity

Ribbentrop participated in a mesting of June 6, 1944, at which
it was agreeq to start a program under which Allied aviators carrying
out machine gun attacks on the civilian population should be lynched.
In December 1944 Ribbentrop was informed of the plans to murder one of
the French Generals held as a prisoner of war and directed his sub-
ordinate to see that the details were worked out in such a way as to
prevent its detection by the protecting powers. Ribbentrop is also
responsible for War Crimes and Crimes against Fumanity because of his
activities with respect to occupied countries and Axis satellites. The
: top German official in both Denmark and Vichy France was a Foreign
Cffice representative, and Ribbentrop is therefore responsible for the
eeneral econcmic and political policies put into effect in the occupa-
tion of those countries. He urged the Italians to adopt a ruthless
uccupation policy in Yugoslavia and Greece.

He played an important ?art in Eitler's "final solution" of the
Jewish question. In September 1942 he ordered the German diplomatic
representatives accredited to various Axis satellites to hasten the
deportation of Jews to the Bast, In June 1942 the German Ambassador to
Vichy requested Laval to turn over 50,000 Jews for deportatioﬂ to the
Bast. On February 25, 1943, Ribbentrop protested to Mussolini against
Italian slowness in deporting Jews from the Italian occupadion zone of
France. On April 17, 1943, he toop part in a conference between Hitler
.and Horthy on the deportation of Jews from Eungary and informed Horthy
that the "Jews must either be exterminated or taken to concentration
camps." At the same conference Hitler had likened the Jews to "tuber-

culosis bacilli! and said if they did not work they were to be shot,
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Ribbentrop!s defense to the charges made against him is that Hitler
made all the important decisions and that he was sucﬁ a great admirer
and faithful follower of Eitler that he never questioned Eitler's
repeated assertions that he wanted peace or the truth of the reasons
that Hitler gave &n explaining sggressive action., The Tribunal does
not consider this explanation to be true. Ridbentrop participated in
all of the Nazi aggressions from the occupation of Austria %0 the
invasion of the Soviet Union, Although he was personally concerned
with the diplomatic rather than the military aspect of these actions,
his diplomatic efforts were so clnsely connected with war that he could
not have remained unaware of the aggressive nature of Hitler'!s actions.
In the administration of territories over which Germany acquired control
by illegal invasion Ribbentrop also assisted in carrying out criminal
policies particularly those involving the extermination of the Jews,
There is abundant evidence, noreover, that Ribbentrop was in complete
sympathy with all the main tenets of the Nationgl Socialist creed, and
that his collaboration with Hitler and with other defendants in the
cormission of crimes against peace, war crimes and crimes againsbd humaniey
was whole- hearted. It was because Eitler's policy and plans coincided

with his own ideas that Ribbentrop served him so willingly to the end,

Conclusion

The Tribunal finds that Ridbbentrop is guilty on all four counts,
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M. de VABRES:

XTITEL

Keitel is indicted on all four counts. He was Chief of Staff to
the then Minister of War von Blomberg from 1935 to 4 February 1938; on
that day Hitler look commedd of the armed forces, making Xeitel Chief
of the High Command of the Armed Forces., Xeitel did not have command
authority over the ..¢ three Wehrmacht branches which enjoyed direct access

to the Supreme Commander. OKW was in effect Hitler's military staff,

Crimes against Peace

Keitel attended the Schuschnigg conference in February 1938 with
two other generals., Their presence, he admitted, was a "military
demonstration,” but since he had been apmointed OXW Chief just one week
before he had not known why he had been summoned. Hitler and Keitel then
continued to put pressure on Austria with false rumors, broadcasts
and troop manoeuvras, Keitel mede the military and other arrangements
and Jodl's diary noted "the effect is qpiok'and strong. When Schusch-
nigeg called his plebiscite, Keitel that night briefed Hitler and his
generals, and Hitler issued "Case Otto" which Keitel initialed.

On 21 April 1938 Hitler and Xeitel considered making use of a pos.
sible "inecident," such as the assassinatinon of the German Minister at
Prague, to preface the attack on Czechoslovakia., Xeitel signed many
directives and memoranda on "Fall Gruen," including the directive of
30 May containing Hitler's statement: "It is my unalterable decision
to smash Czechoslovakia by military action in the near future." After
Munich, Keitel initialed Hitler!s directive for the attack on Czechoslo-

vekia, and issued two
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supnlements. The second supplemént said the attack should apvear to the
outside warld as "merely an act of pacification and not a warlike under-
taking.! The OXW Chief attending Eitler's negotistions with Hacha when
the latter surrendered.

Keitel was present on 23 May 1939 when Hitler announced his dscision
"to attack Poland at the first suitable opportunity." Already he had
sigred the directive reouiring the Wehrmacht to submit its "Fall Weiss!
timetable to OXW dy 1 May.

The invasion of Noarway and Denmark he discussed on 12 December
1939 with Hitler, Jodl and Raeder., 3y diresctive of 27 January 1940
the Norway plans were placed under Keitel'!'s "direct and personal quidance."
Eitler had said on 23 May 1939 he would ignore the neutrality of Belgium
and the Netherlarnds, end Keitel signed nrders for these attakks on 15
October, 20 November, and 28 Yovember 1939. Jrders postponing this
attack 17 times until spring 1940 21l were signed by Keitel or Jodl.

Formal planning for attacking Greece and Yugoslavike had begun in
Yovember 1940, On 18 March 1941 Keitel heard EHitler tell Raeder cample te
occupation of Greece was a prerequisite to settlement, and also heard Hitler

that should take place

decree on 27 March/ the destruction of Yugoslavia/with "unmerciful harsh-
ness."

Keltel testified that he opoosed the invasion of the Soviet Union
for military reasons, and also because it would constitute a violation
of the non-aggression Pact. UNevertheless he initialed "Case Barbarossa,"
signed by Eitler on 18 December 1940, and attended the OKW discussion
with Hitler on 3 February 1941, Keitel's supvlement of 13 March es.-
tablished the relztionship between the military and politicel officers.
He issued his timetable for the invasion on 6 June 1941, and was

present at the
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briefing of 14 June when the generals gave their final reports before
attack, Fe appointed Jodl and Warlimont as JEW representatives to
Rosenberg on matters concerning the Eastern Territories. On 16 June he
directed all army units to carry out the economic directives issued by
Goering in the so-called "Green Folder," for the exploitation of Rus-
sian territory, food and raw materials,

War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity

On 4 August 1942 Keitel issued a directive that paratroopers were
to be turned over to the SD. On 18 October Hitler issued the Commeado
the landing in
Crder which was carried out in several instances. After/Normandy, Keitel
reaffirmed the order, and later extended it to Allied missions fighting
with partisans., He admits he didnst believe the order was legal but
claims he could not stop Hitler from decreeing it.
When, on 8 September 1941, OKW issued its ruthless regulstions
the treatment of
for/Soviet POW's, Canaris wrote to Keitel that under international law
the SD should have nothing to do with this??t;;rthis memorandum in
Keitel's handwriting, dated 23 Sedember and initialed by him, is the
statement; "The objections arise from the military concept of chivalrous
warfiare. This is the destruction of an idealogy. Therefore I avvrove
and back the nmeasures," Keitel testified that he really agreed with
Canaris and argued with Fitler, but lost. The OKW Chief directed
the military authorities to cooperate with the Einsatzstah Rosenberd in
looting cultureal property in cocupied territories.
. Lahousen testified that Keitel told him on 12 September 1939, while
aboard Eitler's headquarters train, that the Polish intelligentsia, nobility
and Jews were to be liquidated. On 20 October, Hitler told Keitel the

intelligentsia would be prevented from forming a ruling class, the standard
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of living would remain low, and Poland would be used
only for labor forces. Keitel does not remember the
Lahousen conversation, but admits there was such a
policy and that he had protested without effect to
Hitler about it.

On 16 September 1941, Keitel ordered that attacks
on soldiers in the East should be met by putting to death
50 to 100 Communists for one German soldier, with the
comment that human 1ife was less than nothing in the East.
On 1 October he ordered military commanders always to have

German :
hostages to execute when/soldiers were attacked When
Terboven, the Reich Commissioner in Norway, wrote Hitler
that Keitel's suggestion that workmen's relatives be held
responsible for sabotage, could work only if firing squads
in the margin:

were authorized, Keitel wrote on this memorandum{ "Yes,
that is the best."

On 12 May 1941, five weeks before the invasion of the

the the

Soviet Union,/OKW urged upon Hitler a directive of/CKH that
political commissars be liquidated by the Army. Keltel ad-
mitted the directive was passed on to field commanders.
And on 13 May Keitel signed an order that civilians suspec-
ted of offenses against troops should be shot without trial,
and that prosecution of German soldiers for offenses against
civilians was unnecessary. On 27 July all copies of this
directive were ordered destroyed without affecting its
validity. Four days rreviously he had signed another
order that legal punishment was inadequate and trcops should
use terrorism,

On 7 December 1941, as already discussed in this
opinion, the so-called "Nacht und Nebel" decree, over
Keitel's signature, provided that in occupied territories
civilians who had been accused of crimes of resistance

against the army of occupation would be tried only if a

death sentence was likely;
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ctherwise they would be handed to the Geétapo for transportation to
Germany,
that
Keitel directed/ Russian POW's be used in German war indusiry. On
8 Jeptember 1942 he ordered French, Dutch and Belgian citizens to work
construction of the
on thefAtlantic Wall. He was present on 4 January 1944 when Eitler
directed Smuckel to obtain four million new workers fron occupied terri-
tories.
In the face of these documents Xeiiel dones not deny his connection
with those acts. Rather, his defense relies on the fact that he is a
soldier, and on the doctrine of "superior orders," prohibited by Article
8 of the Charter as a defense.
There is nothing in mitigation. Superior orders, even to a soldier,
cannot be considered in mitigation where crimes as shocking and extensive

have been committed consciously, ruthlessly and without military excuse

or Jjustification.

Conclusion

The Tribunal finds Xeitel guilty.on all four counts.
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THEE PRESIDENT: KALTEIRRUNVER
Kal tenbrunner is indicted under Counts One, Three and Four. Ee
Joined the Austrian Nazi Party and the SS in 1932, In 1935 he became

leader of the S in Austria, After the Anschluss he was appointed

austrian State Secretary for Security and when this position was abolished
in 1941 he was made EHigher SS and Police Leader., On Janwary 30, 1943,

he was appointed Chief of the Security Police and SD and Head of the
Reich Secmrity Fead Office (RSFA), a position which had been held by
Heydrich until hies assaseination in 'June 1942, Ee held the rank of

Obvergruppénfuchrer in the SS.

Crimnee against Peace

As leader of the S§ in Austria Xaltenbrunner was active in the
Tazi intrigue against the Schuschnige Government. On the night of March
11, 1938, after Goering had ordered Austrian National Socialists to
seize control of the Austrian Govermment, 500 Austrian SS men under
Xaltenbrunner's cemmand surrounded the Federal Chancellery and a special
detachment undsr the command of his ad jutant entered the Federal
Chancellery while Seyss~Inquart was negotiating with President Miklas.
But thsre is no evidence conﬁecting Xaltenbrunner with plans to wage
aggressive war on any other front. The Anschluss, although it was an
aggressife act, is not‘charged as an ageressive war, and the evidence
against Xaltenbrunner under Count One does not, in the opinion of the

Tribunal, show his direct participation in any plan to wage such a war.
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War Crimes and Crimes against Fumanity

When he became Chief of the Security Police and 9D and Head of
the RSHA on January 30, 1943, Kaltenbrunnsr tock charge of an organize-
tion which included the main offices of the Gestapo, the SD and the
Criminal Police. Ag Chief of the RSEA, Kaltenbrunner had authority
to order protective custody to and release from concentration camps.
Orders to this effect were normally sent over his signature. ZXalten-
brunner was awars of conditions in concentration camps. He had un..
doubtedly visited Mauthausen and witnesses testifisd that he had seen
prisoners killed by the various methods of execution, hanging, shooting
in the bYack of the neck and gassing, as paft of a demonstration. ZXalten—
brunner hinmself ordered the executlion of prisoners in those camps
and his office was used to transmit to the camps execubtion orders
which originated in Fimmler's office. At the end of the war Xalten-
brunner participated in the arraengements for the evacuation of inmates
of concentration cemps, and the liquidation of many of them, to pre-
vent them from being liberated by the Allied armies,

During the period in which Kaltenbrunner was Fead of RSEA, it
was engaged in a widespread program of War Crimes and Crines against
Fumanity. These crimes included the nistreatment and murder of prisoners
of war. ZEinsatz Kormandos opéerating under the control of the Gestapo
were engaged in the screening of Soviet prisnners of war, Jews, come
nissars, and others who were thought to be ideoloéically hostile to
the Nazl system were reported to the RSEA, which had them transferred
to a concentration camp and murdered. An RSEA order issued during
Kaltenbrunner's regime established the "3ullet Decree,® under which
certain escapwd prisoners of war who were recaptured were taken to

Mauthausen
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and shot, The order for the execution of commando troops was extended
by the Gestapo to include parachutists while Xaltenbrunner was Chief

of the RSHA. An order signed by Kaltenbrunner instructed the Police
not to interfere with attacks on bailed out Allied fliers. In Decenber
1944 Kaltenbrunner participated in the murder of one of the French
Gernerals held as a prisaner of war,

During the period in which Xal tenbrunner was Head of the RSHA,
the Gestapo and SD in occupied territories continued the murder and ill-
treatment of the population, using methods which included torture and
confinement in concentration camps, usually under orders to which Xalten-
brunner!s name was signed.

The Gestapo was responsible for enforcing a rigid labor discipline
on the slave laborers and Kaltenbrumner established a series of labor
reformatory camps for this purpose., When the SS embarked on a slave
labor program of its own, the Gestapo was used to obtain the neceded
workers by sénding laborers to concentration camps.

The RSEA played a leading part in the "final solution" of the
Jewlsh question by the extermination of the Jews. A swecial section
under the AMI' IV of the RSEA was established to supervise this progran.
Under its direction approxinately six million Jews were rurdered, of
which two million were killed by Einsatzgrupveén and other units of the
Security Police. Xaltenbrunner had been informed of the activities
of these Einsatzgrupnen when he was a Higher SS and Police Leader, and
they contimued to function after he had become Chief of the RSHA.

ﬁhe rmarder of approximately four million Jews in concentration camps

has heretofore been described. This part of the program was
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alsounder the supervision of the RSHA when Kaltenbrunner was head of
that organization, and special missions of the RSEA scoured- the
occupied territories and the various Axis satellites arranging for the
deportation of Jews to these extermination institutions. XKaltenbrunner
was informed of these activities. A4 letter which he wrote on June 30,
1944, describved the shipment to Viemnna of 12,000 Jews for that purpose,
and directed that all who could not work would have to be kept in
readiness for "special action,” which meant murder. Kaltenbrunner
denied his signature to this letter, as he did on a very large pumber
of orders on which his name was stamped or typed, and, in a few in-
stances, written. It is inconceivable that in matters of such im-
portance his signature could have apveared so many times without his
authority.

Kaltenbrunner has claimed thet when he took office as Chief of
the Security Police and SD and as FHead nf the RSFA he did so pursuant to
an understanding with Hitler under which he was to confine his activities
to matters involving foreign intelligence, and not to assume overall
control over the activities of the RSHA, He claims that éhe criminal
progran had been started before his assumption of office; that he
seldom knew what was going on; and that when he was informed he did
what he could to stop them, It is true that he showed a special interest
in matters involving foreign intelligence. 3But he exercised control
over the activities of the RSHA; was aware of the crimes it was commit-

ting, and was an active participant in many of them,

Conclusion
The Tribunsl finds that Xaltenbrunner is not guilty on Count One,

Ee is guilty under Counts Three and Four.
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MAJOR GZIFZRAL NIKITCFENXO:
ROSTYBERG

Rosenberg is indicted on all four counts, Fe joined the Nazi Party
in 1919, participated in the Munich Putch of November 9, 1923, and tried
to keep the illegal Nazi Party together while Hitler was in jail. Recog-
nized as the Party's ideologist, he developed and spread Nazi doctrines
in the newspapers "Voelkischer 3eobachter" and "N S Monatshefte," which
he edited, and in the numberous books he wrote. Fis book, "Myth of the
Twentietll Century," had a circulation of over a million copies.

In 1930, Rosenberg was slected to the Reichstag and he became the
Party's representative for Foreign Affiairs. In April 1933 he was made
Reichsleiter and head of the Office of Forsign Affairs of the NSDAP
(TEE APA). Eitler, in January 1934, appointed Rosenberg his Deputy for
the Supervision of the ﬁntire Spiritual and Ideological Training of the
NSDAP, In January 1940, he was designated to set up the "Hohe Schule,"
the Center of National Socialistic Ideological and Educational Research;
and he organized -the "Einsatzstab Rosenberg" in connection with this
task. Ee was appointed Reich Minister for the Occupied Easter Terri-

tories on July 17, 1941.

Crimes against Peace.

As head of the APA, Rosenberg was in charge of an organization whose
agents were active in NMazi intrigue in all parts of the world. His own
reports, for examnple, claim that the APA was largely responsible for
Roumania's joining the Axis., As head of the APA, he played am important

role in the preParation and planning of the attack on Norway,
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Rosenberg, together with Racder, was one of the originators of the

plan for attacking Norway. Rosenberg had become interested in Norway
as early as June 1939, when he conferrzd with Quisling, Quisling had
pointed out the importance of the Norwegian Coast in the event of a
conflict between Germany and Great 2ritain, and stated his fearg that
Great 2ritain might be able to obtain Norwegian assistance, 4s a
result of this conference Rosenberg arranged for Quisling to
collabnrate closely with the National Socialists and to receive
pokitical assistance by the Nazis,

When the war broke out Quisling began to express fear of British
intervention in Norway. BRnsenberg supported this view, and transmitted
to Reeder a plan to use Quisling for a ¢oup in Norway. Rosenberg was
instrumental in arranging the conferences in December 1939 between
Hitler and Quisling which led to the preparation of the attack on
Norway, end at which Hitler promised Quisling financial assistance,
After these conf:zrences Hitler assigned to Rosenberg the political
exploitation of Norway., Two weeks after Norway was occuvied, Hitler
told Rosenberg that he had based his decision to attack Norway "on
Fhe continuous warnings of Quisling as reported to him by Reichsleiter
Rosenberg. "

Rosenbers bears a major responsiblity for the formuldtion and
execution of occupation policies in the Occupied Eastérn Territories.
Ee was informed by Hitler on April 2, 1941, of the coming attack against
the Soviet Union, and he agresd to help in the capacity of a "Political
Adviser." On April 20, 1941, he was appointed Commissioner for the Central
Control of Questions Connected with the Fast~Buropean Region. In preparing
the plans for the occupation, he had nmwmercusc conferences with XKeitel, Raedef'g

Goering, Funk, Ridbentrop, and other high Reich authorities. 1In April and
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May 1941 he prepared several drafts of instructions concerning the setting
up of the administration in the Occupied Bastern Territories. Cn June 20,
1941, two days before the attack on the USSR, he made a speech to his
assistants about the problemes and policies of occupation. Rosenberg at-
the course of
tended Kitler's conference of July 16, 1941, in/which policies of adminis-
tration and occupation were discusseds On July 17, 1941, Hitler apprinted
Rosenberg Reich Minister for the Occupied Eastern Territories, and publicly

charged him with reeponsibility for civil sdministration,

War Crimes and Criree against Eumanity

Rosenberg is responsible for a system of organized plunder of both
public and private property throughout the invaded countries of Europe.
Acting undar Fitler's orders of January 1940, to set up the "Hohe Schule.'
he organized and directed the "Einsatzsted Rosenberg", which plundered
museums and libraries, confiscated art treasures and collections, and
pillaged private houses, FHis own reports show the extent of the conficsa~
tions, In MAction-M" (Moebel), instituted in December 1941 at Rosenberg's
suggestion, 69,619 Jewish homes were plundered in the Weet, 38,000 of them
in Peris alone, and it took 26,984 railroad cars to transport the confiscated
furnishings to Germany. As of July 14, 1944, more than 21,903 art objects,
including fanous paintings end nuseum pieces, had been seized by the
Einsatzsteb in the West,

With his appointment as Rgich Minister for Occupied Eastern Terris
tories on July 17, 1941, Rosenberg beceme the supreme authority for those
ateas, Fe helped .to formulate the policies of Germanization, exploitation,
forced labor, extermination of Jews and opponents of Nazi rule, and he set
up the administration which carried them outi Fe took part in the confer-

ence of July 16, 1941, in which Fitler stated that they were faced with the
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task of "cutting up the giant cake according to our needs, in order to be
ablg first, to dominate it, second, to administer it, and third, to
exploit it," and/?idicated that ruthless action was contemplted.
Rosenberg accepted his appointment on the following day.

Rosenberg had knowledge of the brutal treatment and terror to
which the Eastern peeple were subjected. FHe directed that the Hague
Rules of Land Warfare were not avplicable in the Occupied Eastern
Territories. He had knowledge of and tock an active vart in stripping
the Eastern Territories of raw materials and foodstuffs, which were all
sent to Germany. Ee stated that feeding the Gsrman people was first
on the list of claims on the East, and that the Soviet people would
suffer thereby. EHis directives provided for the segregation of Jews,
ul timately in Ghettos. Eis subordinates engaged in mass killings of
Jews, and his civil administrators in the East considered that
cleansing the Eastern Occupied Territories of Jews as necessary. In

Rosenberg :
December 1941, /made the suggestion to Hitler that in a case of
shooting 100 hostages, Jews only be used. Rosenberg had knowledge
of the deportation of laborers from the east, of the methods of
"recruiting" and the transportation horrors, and of the .treatment
Eastern laborers received in the Reich., He gave his civil adminis-
trators quotas of laborers to be sent to the Reich, which had to be
wet by whatever means necessary. EHis signature of approval appears
on the order of June 14, 1944, for the "Heu Aktion", the apprehension
of 40,000 to 50,000 youths, aged 10-14, for shipment to the Reich.

Upon occasion Rosenberg objected to the excesses and atrocities

committed by his subordinates, notably:in the case of Xoch, bu% these -
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MR, BIDDLE: TRANK

Frank is indicted under Counts One, Three and Four. TFrank joined
the Nazi Party in 1927, He became & member of the Reichstag in 1930,
the Bavarian State Minister of Justice in March 1933, and when this
position was incorporated into the Reich Governmsnt in 1934, Reich
kinister without Portfolio, He was made a Reichsleiter of the Nazi
Party in charge\of Legal Affaire in 1933, and in the same year President
of the Acadenmy of German Law., TFrank was also given the honorary rank
of @bergruppenfuehrer in the SA, In 1942 Frank became involved in a
temporary dispute with Himmler as to the type of Zegal system which
should be in effect in Germany. During the same year he was dismissed
&s Reiéhsleiter of the Nazi Party and as President of the Academy of
German Law,

Crimes against Peace

The evidence has not satisfied the Tridbunel that Frank was suffi-
ciently connected with the common plan to wage aggressive war to allow
the Tribunal to convict him on Count One,

War Crimes and Crimes against Eumanity

Frank was appointed Chief Civil Administration Office for occupied
Polish territory and, on October 12, 1939, was made Governor General of
the occupied Polish territory. On October 3, 1939, he described the
policy which he intended to put into effect by stating; "Poland shall
be treated like a colony; the Poles will become the slaves of the Greater
German World Empire." The evidence establishes that this occupation

policy was based on the complete destruction of Poland as a national
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entity, and a ruthless exploitation of its human and economic resources
for the German war effort, All opposition was crushed with the utmost
harshness. A reign of terror was instituted, backed by summary npolice
5

courts which ordered such actions as the publiec shootings of groups of
twenty to two hundred Poles, and the widespread shootingé of hostages.
The concentration camp system was introduced in the General Government 1
by the esgablishment of the notorious Treblinka and Maydanek camps.
as early as February 6, 1940, Frank gave an indication of the extent of
this reign of terror by his cynical comment to a newspaper reporter on
von Neurath's poster announcing the exescution of the Czech students;
"If I wished to order that one should hang up posters about every seven
Foles shot, there would not be enoush forests in Poland with which %o
make the paper for these posters.”™ On May 30, 1940, Frank told a police
conference that he was teking advantage of the offensive in the West
which diverted the attention of the world from Poland to liquidate
thousands of Poles who would be likely to resist German domination of
Foland, including "the leading representatives of the Polish intelligent—
sia.™ Pursuant to these instructions the brutal A.B. action was begun
under which the Security Police and SD carried out these exterminations
which were only partially subjected to the restraints of legal procedure.
On October 2, 1943, Frank issued a decree under vwhich any non-Gernans
hindering German construction in the General Government were to be tried
by summary courts of the Security Police and SE and sentenced to death.

The economic demands made on the General Government were far in

excess of the needs of the army of occupation, and were out of all

proportion to the resources of the country. The food raised in Poland

16999



was shipped to Germany on such a wide scale that the rations of the
population of the occupied territories were reduced to the starvation
level, and epidenmics were widespread. Some steps were taken to provide
for the feeding of the agricultural workers who were used to raise the
crops, but the requirements of the rest of the popuiation were disregerded.
It is undoubtedly true, as argued by Counsel for the defense, that some
suffering in the General Government was inevitable as a result of the
ravages of war and the econonmic confusion resulting therefrom. 3But the
suffering was increased by a planned mnolicy of economic exploitation.

Frank introduced the devortation of slave laborers to Germany in
the very early stages of his administration. On January 25, 1940, he
indicated his intention of devporting one million laborers tc Germany,
suggesting on May 10, 1940, the use of police raids to meet this quota.
On August 18, 1942, Frank reported that he had already supplied 800,000
workers for the Reich, and expected to be able to supply 140,000 more
vbefore the end of the year.

The persecution of the Jews was immediately begun in the CGeneral
Government., The érea originally contained from 2,500,000 to 3,500,000
Jews, They were forced into ghettos, subjected to discriminatory laws,
deprived of the food necessary to avoid starvation, and finally.
gystematically and brutally exterminated. On December 16, 1941, Frank
told the Cabinet of the Governor General: "We must annihilate the Jews,
wherever we find them and wherever itis possible, in order to maintain
there the structure of Reich as a whole." By January 25, 1944, Frank

estimated that there were only 100,000 Jews left.
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At the beginning of his testimony, Frank stated that he had a
feeling of "terrible guilt" for the atrocities committed in the occupied
territories., But his defense was largely dsvoted to an atterpt to prove
that he wasnot in fact responsible; that he ordered only ths necessary
pacification measures; that the excesses were due to the activities of
the police which were not under his control; and that he never even

knew of the activities of the concentration camms. It has also been

s

reued that the starvation was due to the aftermath of the war and
policies carried out undertthe Four Year Plan; that the forced labor
program was under the direction of Sauckel; and that’ the extermination
of the Jews was by the police and SS under direct orders from Eimmler.
It is undoubtedly true that most of the criminal program charged
against Frank were put into effect through the police, that Frark had
Jurisdictional difficulties with Himmler over the control of the police,
and that Hitler resolved many of these disputes in favor of Hirmler.
It therefore may well be true that some of the crimes committed in the
General Government were committed without the knowledge of Frank, and
even occasionally despite his opposition. It may also be true that
some of the criminal policies put into effect in the General Government
did not originate with Frank but were carried out pursuant to orders
from Germany. 3But it is alsotrue that Frank was a willing ard knowing
participant in the use of terrorism in Poland; in the econonic
exploitation of Poland in a way which led to the death by starvation
of a large number of people and the deportation to Germany as slave
laborers of over a million Poles; and in& program involving the

nurder of at least three million Jews.
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M. DE VABRES: FRICK

Frick is indicted on all four counts. Recognized as the
chief Nazi administrative specialist and bureaucrat, he wass
appointed Reichminister of the Interior in Hitler's first
cabinet. He retained this important position until August,
1943, when he was appointed Reich Protector of Bohemia and
loravia. In connection with his duties at the center of all
internal and.domestic administration, he became the Prussian
Minister of the Interior, Reich Director of Elections, General
Plenipotentiary for the Administration of the Reich, and a
member of the Reich Defense Council, the Ministerial Council
for Defense of the Reich, and the "Three Man College."

As the several countries incorporated into the Reich were over-
run, he was placed at the head of the Central Offices for thei:
incorporation.

Though Frick did not officially join the Nazi Party until
1925, he had previously allied himself with Hitler and the
National Socialist cause during the Munich Putsch, while he
was an official in the Munich Police Department. Elected to
the Reichstag in 1924, he became a Reichsleiter as leader of
the National Socialist faction in that body.

Crimes against Peace

An avid Nazi, Frick was largely responsible for bringing
the German Nation under the complete control of the NSDAP.
After Hitler became Reich Chancellor, the new Minister of the
Interior immediately began to incorporate local governments

under the sovereignty of the Reich. The numerous
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laws he drafted, signed, and administered abolished all oppos-
ition parties and prepared the way for the Gestapo and their
éoncentration camps to extinguish all individual opposition.

He was largely responsible for the legislation which suppressed
the Trade Unions, the Church, the Jews. He performed this task
with ruthless efficiency.

Before the date of the Austrian aggression Frick was
concerned only with domestic administration within the Reich.
The evidence does not show that he participated in any of the
conferences at which Hitler outlined his aggressive intentions.
Consequently the Tribunal takes the view that Frick was not
a member of the common plan or conspiracy to wage aggressive war
as defined in this Judgment.

Six months after the seizure of Austria, under the pro-
visions of the Reich Defense Law of September 4, 1938, Frick
became General Plenipotentiary for the Administration of the
Reich. He was made responsible for war administration, except
the military and economic, in the event of Hitler's proclaim-
ing a state of defense. The Reich Ministries of Justice,
Education, Religion, and the Office of Spatial Planning were
made subordinate to him. Performing his allotted duties,
Frick devised an administrative organization in accordance
with wartime standards. According to his own statement, this
was actually put into operation after Cermany decided to adopt
a policy of war.

Frick signed the law of March 13, 1938, which united
Austria with the Reich; and he was made responsible for its
accomplishment. In setting up German administration in
Austria, he issued decrees which introduced German law, the

Nurnberg Decreés, the Military Service Law, and he provided
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for police security by Himmler.

Fe also signed the lews incorporating into the Reich the Sudetenlard,
liemel, Danzig, the Eastern territorieé (Vest Prussia and Posen) and Bupen,
malmedy, and Moresnot. He was placed in charge of the actual
ineorporation, and of the establishment of German adminiétration over
these territories. FHe signed the law establishing the Protectorate of
Bohemia and Moravia.

As the head of the Central Offices for 3ohemia and Moravia, the
Government General, and Norway, he was charged with obtaining close
ccoperagtion between the Germany officials in these occupied countrieé
and the supreme authorities of the Reich, He supmplied German civil
servants for the admin strations in all occuvied territories, advising
Rosenberg as to their assignment in the Occupied Eastern Territories.

He signed the laws apvointing Terboven Reich Cormissioner to Norway
and Seyss-Inquart to Holland.

War Grimes and Crimes against Eumanity

Always rabidly anti-Semitic, Frick drafted, signed, and administered
nany laws designed to elininate Jews from German life and economy. His
work formed the basis ¢f the Nurnberg Decrees, and he was attive in
enforeing them., Responsible for prohibiting Jews from following vadous
professions, and for confiscating their proverty, he signed a final decree
in 1943, after the mass destruction of Jews in the Zast, which placed
them "outside the law? and handed them over to the Gestapo. These laws
paved the way for the "final solution' and wers extended by Frick to

the Incorporated Territories and to certain of the Occuvnied Territories,
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Jhiie he was Reich Protector of Bohemia and Moravie, thousands of Jews
were transferred from the Terezin Ghetto in Czechoslovakia to Auschwitz,
where they were killed. He issued a decree vroviding for special vpenal
laws against Jews and Poles in the Government General .

The police officially fell under the jJjurisdiction of the Reichminister
of the Interior. 3But Frick actually exercised little control over Eimmler
and police matters, FHowever, he signed the law appointing Himmler Chief
of the German Polie, as well as the decrees establishing Gestapo juris—
diction over concentration camps and regulating the execution of orders
for protective custody. From the many commlaints he received, and from
the testimony of witnesses, the Tribunal concludes that he knew of
atrocities committed in these camps. With knowledge of Himnler!s
methods, Frick signed decrees authorizing him to takenecessary security
measures in certain on the Incorporated Territories. Whet those
"security measures™ turned out to be has already been dealt with,

48 the Supreme Reich Authority in Bohemia and Moravia, Frick bears
general responsibility for the acts of oppression in that territory after
20 August 1943, such as terrorism of the population, slave labor, and the
deportation of Jews to the concentration camps for extermination.

It is true that Frick!s duties as Reich Protector were considerably more
limited than those of his predecessor, and that he had no legislative
and limited personal executive authority in the protectorate. Never-
theless, Frick knew full well what the Nazi policies of occuvation were
in Europe, particularly with reépect to Jews, at that time, and by
accepting the office of Reich Protector he assumed resmonsibility for

carrying out those policies in 3ohemia and lMoravia.
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German citizenship in the occupied countries as well as in the
Reich came under his jurisdiction while he was Minister of the Interior.
Having created a racial register of persons of German extraction, Frick

categories

conferred German citizenship on certain / of citizens of foreign
countriss. He is responsible for Germanization in Austria, Sudetenland,

in the territories of
Menel, Danzig, Zastern Territories (West Prussia and Posen), and/the Tupen,
Malmedy, and Moresnot. Fe forced on the citizens of these territories,
German law, German courts, German education, German police security,
and compulsory militarv service,

During the war nursing homes, hospitals, and asylums in which
euthanasia was practiced as described elsewhere in this Judgment, came
under Frick's jurisdiction. He had knowledge that‘insane, sick and aged
people, M"useless eaters," were being systematically put to death.
Cormplaints of these murders reached hin, but he did nothing to stop
them, A remort of the Czechoslovak War Crimes Commission estimated that
275,000 mentelly deficient and aged neonle, for whose welfare he was
responsible, fell vietim to it.

Conclusion

The Tribunal finds that Frick is not guilty on Count One.

He is guilty on Counts Two, Three and Four.
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Gerran people to setive persemution. Esch issue of "Der
Sturwer", which reaches a circulstion of 600,000 in 1935,
was filled with such articles, often lewd anc disgusting,

Streicher had cherge of the Jewish boycott of April 1,
1933, He a2dvocated the Nurnberg Decrees of 1935. He was
responsible for the derolition on #ugust 10, 1938, of the
Synagogue in Nurnberg,’ And on Noverber 10, 1938, he
spoke publicly in support of the Jewish pogrom which was
teking place ot thet tire.

But it was not only in Germeny that this cdefendent
advocated his doctrines. 4s early es 1938 he begen to
cell for the annihilation of the Jewish race, Twenty-
three different articles of "Der Sturrer" between 1938
and 1941 were procduced in evidence, in which extermineotion
"root 2nd branch" was preached. Typical of his teachings
was a leading article in Septerber 1938 which terned the
Jew a gern snd a pest, not a huuen being, but "a parasite,
an enery, an evil-doer, a disseminator of disesses who
must be destrcyed in the interest of mankind", Other
articles urged thet only when world Jewry hal been
annihilested would the Jewish problei: heve been solved, end
precdicted thet fifty yesrs hece the Jewish greves "will
proclaim thet this people of rurderers ond crininals has
after 211 met its deserved fate", Streicher, in February
1940, published 2 letter from one of "der Sturter's"
readers which compared Jews with swarms of locusts which
st be exterminated completely., Such was the poison
Streicher injected into the ninds of thousends of Germens
which caused ther to follow the Nationel Socislist policy
of Jewish persecution and exterrinstion, L leading esrticle

of "Der Sturmer" in May 1939, shows cleerly his aim,
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"A punitive expedition must come against the
Jews in Russia. A punitive expedition which
will provide the same fate for them that every
murderer and criminal must expect. Death '
sentence and execution. The Jews in Russia
must be killed. They must be exterminated
root and branch."

As the war in the early stages proved successful in
acquiring more and more territory for the Reich, Streicher
even intensified his efforts to incite the Germans against
the Jews. In the record are twenty-six articles from "Der
Sturmer'", published between August 1941 and September
1944, twe've by Streicher's own hand, which demanded
annihilation and extermination in unequivocal terms.

He wrote and published on December 25, 1941:

"If the danger of the reproduction of that
cursc of God in the Jewish blood is to finally
come to an cnd, then there is only one way--
the extermination of that people whose father
is the ‘devil."

And in February 1944 his own article stated:

"Thoever does what a Jew does is a scoundrel,
a criminal. And hc who repeats and wishes
to copy him deserves the same fate, annihila-
tion, death."

With knowledge of the extermination of the Jews
in the Occupied Eastern Territory, this defendant continued
to write and publish his propaganda of death. Testifying
in this trial, he vehemently denied any knowledge of mass
executions of Jews. But the evidence makes it clear that
he continually received current information on the pro-
gress of the "final solution", His press photographer
was sent to visit the ghettos of the East in the spring
of 1943, the time of the destruction of the Warsaw Ghetto.
The Jewish newspaper, "Israelitisches Wochenblatt", which
Streicher received and read, carried in each issue accounts
of Jewish atrocities in the East, and gave figures on the
number of Jews who had been deported and killed. For
example, issues appearing in the summer and fall of 1942

reported the death of 72,729 Jews.
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in Warsaw,’?,542 in Lodz, 18,000 in C’atia, 125,00C in
Rumania, 14,000 in.Latvia, 85,000 in Yugoslavia, 700,000
in all of Poland. In November 1943 Streicher quoted ver-
batim an article from the "Israelitisches Wochenblatt"
which stated that the Jews had virtually disappeared

from Europe, and commented "This is not a Jewish lie."

In December 1942, referring to an article in the "London
Times" about the atrocities, aiming at extermination,
Streicher said that Hitler had given warning that the
second World War would lead to the destruction of Jewry.
In January 1943 he wrote and published an article which
said that itler's prophecy was being fulfilled, that world
Jewry was being extirpated, and that it was wonderful to
know that Hitler was freeing the world of its Jewish
tormenters.,

In the face of the evidence before the Tribunal it is
idle for Streicher to suggest that the solution of the
Jewish problem which he favored was strictly limited to
the classification of Jews as aliens, and the passing
of discriminatory legislation such as the Wurnbers Laws,
supplemented if possible by international agreement on
the creation of a Jewish State somewhere in the world,
to which all Jews should emigrate.

Streicher's incitement to murder and extermination
at the time when Jews in the East were being killed under
the most horrible conditions clearly constitutes per-
secution on political and racial grounds in connection
with war crimes, as defined by the Charter, and con-

stitutes a crime against humanity.

Conclusion

The Tribunal finds that Streicher is not guilty

on Count One, but that he is guilty on Count Four.
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Funk is indicted under all four counts, Funk, who had previously
been a financial journalist, joined the Nazi Party in 1931, and shortly
thereafter became one of Hitler!s personal economic advisers. On
January 30, 1933,/FE§§ made Press Chief in the Reich Governmert,
and on March 11, 1933, became Under Secretary in the Ministry of
Propaganda and shortly thereafter a leading figure in the vaious Nazi
organizations which were used to control the press, films, music and
publishing houses. /F:ﬁﬁk office as Minister of Teonomics and
Plenipotentiary General for War Economy in early 1°38 and as President
of the Reichsbank in Jamuary 1939, He succeeded Schacht in all' three
of these positions. Ee was made a member of the Ministerial Council
for the Defense of the Reich on August 1939, anda member of the
Central Planning Board in Séptember 1943,

Crimes against Peace

Funk became active in theecononic field after the Nazi plane to
wage aggressive war had been clearly defined. One of his representatives
attended a conference on October 14, 1938, at which Goering announced a
gigantic increase in armaments and instructed the Ministry of Economics
to increase exports to obtain the necessary exchange. On January 28,
1939, one of Funk'!s subordinates sent a rmemorandum to the OXKW on the
-use of prisoners of war to make up labor deficiencies which would arise
in case of mobilization. On May 30, 1939, the Under Secretary of the
Ministry of Economics attendéd a meeting at which detailed plans were
made for the financing of the war.

On August 25, 1939, Funk wrote a letter to Fitler expressing the
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had bveen
gratitude that he / able to participate in such world shaking events;

that his plaﬁs for the "financing of the war,! for the control of wage
and price conditions and for the strengthening of the Reichsbank had
been completed; and that he had inconspicuously transferred inte gold
all.foreign exchange resources available to Germany. On October 14,
1939, after the war had begun, /F§2§e a speech in which he stated that
the economic and financial departments of Germany working under the Four
Year Plan had been engaged in the sscret econonic preparation for war
for over a year.

Funk particimated in the conomic planning which procesded the attack
on the USSR. His deputy held daily conferences with Rosenberg on the
economic problems which would arise in the occupation of Soviet territory.
Funk himself participated in planning for the printing of ruble notss in
Germany prior to the attack to serve as occupation curreney in the USSR.
After the attack he made a speech in which he .described plans he had
made for the economic exploitation of the "vast territories of the
Soviet Union" which were to be used as a source of raw material for
Europe.

Funk was not one of the leading figures in originating the Nazi
plans for aggressive war, His activity in the econémic sphere was
under the supervision of Goering as Plenipotentiary General of the
Four Year Plan. Ee did, however, participate in she economic preparation
for certain of the aggressive wars, notably those against Poland and the
Soviet Union, but his guilt can be adequately dealt with under Count Two

of the Indictment.
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War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity

In his capacity as Under Secretary in the Ministry of
Propaganda and Vice-Chairman of the Reichs Chamber of Culture,
Funk had participated in the early Nazi program of economic
discrimination against the Jews.' On November 12, 1938, after
the pogroms of November, he attended a meeting held under the
chairmanship of Goering to discuss the solution of the Jewish
problem and proposed a decree providing for the banning of Jews
from all business activities, which Goering issued the same
day under the authority of the Four Year Plan. Funk has
testified that he was shocked at the outbreaks of November
10, but on November 15, he made a speech describing these
outbreaks as a "violent explosion of the disgust of the
Germaﬁ people, because of a criminal Jewish attack against
the German people," and saying that the elimination of the
Jews from economic life followed logically their elimination
from political life.

In 1942 FPunk entered into an agreement with Himmler under
which the Reichsbank was to receive certain grld and jewels and
currency from the SS and instructed his subordinates, who were
to work out the détails, not to ask too many questions. As a :
result of this agreement Fhe S8S sent to the Reichsbank the
personal belongings taken from the victims who had been
exterminated in the concentration camps. The Reichsbank.
kept the coins and bank notes and sent the jewels, watches
and personal belongings to Berlin Municipal Pawn Shops.

The gold from the eyeglasses, and gold teeth and fillings was
stored in the Reichsbank vaults. TFunk has protested that he
did not know that the Reichsbank was receiving articles of this
kind. The Tribunal. is of the opinion that/P:?Eher knew

what was being received or was deliberately closing his eves

to what was being done.
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As Minister of Economics and President of the Reichsbank,
Funk participated in the economic exploitation of occupied
territories. He was President of the Continental 0il Company
which was charged with the exploitation of the oil resources
of occupied territories in the East. He was responsible for
the seizure of the gold reserves of the Czechoslovakian National
Bank and for the 1iqui?ation of the Yugoslavian National Bank.
On June 6, 1942, /Fuggpity sent a letter to the OKW request-
ing that funds from the French Occupation Cost Fund be made
available for black market purchases. Funk's knowledge of
German occupation policies is shownhby his presence at the
meeting of August 8, 1942, at which Goering addressed the
various German occupation chiefs, told them of the products
required from their territories, and added: "It makes no
difference to me in this connection if you say that your
people will starve."

In the fall of 1943, Funk was a member of the Central
Planning Board which determined the total number of laborers
needed for German industry, and required Sauckel to produce
them, usually by deportation from oc-upied territories. Funk
did not appear to be particularly interested in this aspect
of the forced labor programme, and usually sent a deputy to
attend the meetings, often SS General Ohlendorf, the former
Chief of the SD inside of Germany and the former Commander ~f
Einsatzgruppe D. But Funk was aware that the Boar” of which he
was a member was demanding the imporﬁation of slave lahorers,
and allocating them to the various industries under its control.

As President of the Reichsbank, Funk was also indirectly
involved in the utilization of concentration camp labor.

Under his direction
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the Reichsbank set up a revolving fund of 12,000,000 Reichsmarks to
the credit of the SS for the construction of factories to use
concentration camp laborers.

In spite of the fact that he occupied important official positions,
Funk was never a dominant figure in the various programs in which he
participated. This is a mitigating fact of which the Tribunal takes

notice.

Caonclusion
The Tribunal finds that Funk is not guilty on Count One tut is
&uilty under Counts Two, Three and Four.

THE PRESIDENT: The Court will adjourn for 10 minutes,
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MR. BIDDLE: SCHACHT

Schacht is indicted under Counts One and Two of the
Indictment. Schacht served as Commissioner of Currency
and President of the Reichsbank from 1923 to 1930; was
-reabpointed President of the bank on March 17, 1933;
Minister of Economics in August 1934; and Plenipotentiary
General for War Economy in May 1935. He resigned from
these two positions in November 1937, and was appointed
Minister without Portfolio. He was reappointed as President
of the Reichsbank for a one-year term on March 16, 1937,
and for a four-year term on March 9, 1938, but was dismissed
on January 20, 1939. He was dismissed as Minister without

Portfolio on January 22, 1943,

Crimes against Peace

Schacht was an active supporter of the Nazi Party
before its accession to power on January 30, 1933, and
supported the appointment of Hitler to the post of Chancellor.
After that date he played an important role in the vigorous
rearmament program which was adopted, using the facilities
of the Reichsbank to the fullest extent in the German rearm-
ament effort. The Reichsbank, in its traditional capacity
as financial agent for the Germnan Covernment floated long-
term Government loans, the proceeds of which were used for
rearmament. He devised a system under which five year notes
known as M.E.F.0. bills, guaranteed by the Reichsbank and
backed, in effect, by nothing more than its position as a
bank of issue, were used to obtain large sums for rearmament
from the short-term money market. As Minister of Economics
and as Plenipotentiary General for War Economy he was active

in organizing the
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German economy for war. He made 'detaliled plans for indus-
trial mobilization and the coordination of the Army with
industry in the event of war. He was particularly concerned
with shortages of raw materials and started a scheme of
stock-piling, and a system of exchange control designed to
prevent Germany's weak foreign exchange position from hinder-
ing the acquisition abroad of raw materials needed for rearm-
ament. On May 3, 1935, he sent a memorandum to Hitler stating
that "the accomplishment of the armament program with speed
aqd in quantity is the problem of German politics, that
everything else therefore should be subordinated to this
purpose."

Schacht, by April 1936, began to lose his influence
as the central figure in the German rearmament effort when
Goering was appointed Coordinator for Raw Materials and
Foreign Exchange. Goering advocated a grestly expanded program
for the production of synthetic raw materials which was
opposed by Schacht on the ground that the resulting financial
strain might involve inflation. The influence of Sciacht
suffered further when on October 16, 1936, Goering was
appointed Plenipotentiary for the Four Year Plan with the
task of putting "the entire economy in a state of readiness
for war within four years. Schacht had opposed the
annomncement of this plan and the appointment of Coering
to head it, and it is clear that Hitler's action represented
a decision that Schacht's economic policies were too conser=-
vative for the drastic rearmament policy which Hitler wanted
to put into effect.

After Goering's appointment, Schacht and Goering promptly
became embroiled in a series of disputes. Although there was
an element of personal controversv running through these dis-

putes, Schacht disagreed
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with Goering on certain basic poliey issues. Schacht, on financial
grounds, advocated a retrenchment in the rearmament programme, opposed
as uneconomical much of the pronosed expansion of production facilities,
particularly for synthetics, urged a drestic tighten;ng on government
crddit and a cautious policy in dealing with €ermany's foreign exchange
reserves. As a result of this dispute and of a bitter argument in
which Hitler accused Schacht of upsetting his plans by his financial
methods, Schacht went on leave of absence from the Ministry of Economics
on September 5, 1937, and resigned as Minister of Zconomics and as
Plenipotentiary General for War Economy on November 16, 1937.

as President of the Reichsbank, Schacht was still involved in
disputes. Throughout 1938, the Reichsbank continued to function as
the financial agent for the German Government in floating long-term
loans to finance armanents, 3ut on March 31, 1938, Schacht discon-
tinued the practice of flo#ting short—-term notes guarantced by the
Reichsbank for armament exmenditures. At the end of 1938, in an attempt
to regain control of fiscal policy through the Reichsbank, Schacht refused
an urgent request of the Reichsminister of Finance for a special crédit
to pay the salaries of civil servants which were not covered by existing
funds. On January 2, 1939, Schacht held a conference with Hitler at
which he urged him to reduce expenditures for armaments. On January 7,
1939, Schacht submitted to Fitler a report signed by the Directors of
the Reichsbaﬁk which urged a drastic curtailment of armément expenditures
and a balanced budget as the only method of preventing inflation. On
January 19, Hitler dismissed Schacht as President of the Reichsbank,

On January 22, 1943, Hitler dismissed Schacht as Reichs Minister without
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Portfolio because of his "whole attitude during the present fateful
fight of the German nation." On July 23, 1944, Schacht was arresbed by
the Gestapo and confined in a concentration camp until the end of the yar.

It is clear, that Schacht was a central figure in Germany's rearmament
progran, and the steps which he took, particularly in the early days of
the Nazi regime, were responsible for Nazi Germany!s regpid rise as a
military power. 3ut rearmament of itself is not criminal under the
Charter. To be a crime against peace under Article 6 of the Charter
it nust be showa that Schacht carried out this rearmament as part of
the Nazi plans to wage aggressive wars.

Schacht has contended that he particinated in the rearmament
program only because he wanted to build up a strong and independent
Germany which would carry out a foreign policy which would command
respect on an equal basis with other Buropean countries; that when
he discovered that the Nazis were rearming for aggressive purposes he
attempted to slow down the speed of rearmament; and that after the
v dismissal of von Fritsch and von Blomberg he participated in plans
to get rid of Hitler, first by deposing him and later by assassination.

Schacht, as early as 1936, began to advocate a limitation of’ the
rearmament programme for financial reasons. - Ead the policies advocated
by him been put into effect, Germany would not have been‘prepared for o
general Furopean war. Insistence on his policies led to his eventual
dismissal from all positions of ecomonic significance in Germany.

On the other hand, Schacht, with his intimate knowledge of German
finance, was in a peculiarly good position to understand the true
significance of Eitler's frantic rearmament, and to realize that

the economic policy adopted was consistent
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only with war as its object.

Moreover Schacht continued to participate in German
economic life and even, in a minor way, in some of the early
azl aggressions. Prior to the occupation of Austria he set a
rate of exéhange between the mark and the schilling. After
the occupation of Austria he arranged for the incorporation of
the Austrian National Bank into the Reichsbank and made a
violently pro-Nazi speech in which he stated that the Reichshtank
would always be Nazi as long as he was connected with it, praised
Hitler, defended the occupation of Austria, scoffed at objec-
tions to the way it was carried out, and ended with "to our
Fuehrer a trirle 'Sieg Heil'." He has not contended that this
speech did not represent his state of mind at the time. After
the occupation of the Sudetenland, he arranged for currency con-
version and for the incorporation into the Reichsbank of local
Czech banks of issue. On November 29, 1938, he made a speech in
which he pointed with pride to his economic policy which had
created the high degree of German armament, and added that this
armament had made CGermany's foreign policy possible.

Schacht was not involved in the planning of any of the
specific wars of aggression charged in Count Two. His participa-
tion in the occupation of Austria and the Sudetenland (neither of
which are charged as aggressive wars) was on s'ch a limited basis
that it does not amount to participation in the common plan charge
in Count One. He was clearly not one of the inner circle around
Hitler which was most closely involved with this common plan.

He was regarded by this group with undisguised hostility. The
testimony of Speer shows that Schacht!s arrest on July 23, 1944,
was based as much on Hitler's enmity towards Schacht growing out

of his attitude
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before the war as it was on suspicion of his complicity in the bomb
plot. The case against Schacht therefore depends on the inference
that Schacht did in fact know of the Nazi aggressive plans.

On this all important question evidence has been given for the
prosecution, and a considerable volume of evidence for the defense,
The Tribunal has considered the whole of this evidence with great
care, and comes to the conclusion that this necessary inference has

not been established beyond a reasonable doubt.

Conclusion
The Tribunal finds that Schacht is not guilty on this Indictment,
and directs that he shall be discharged by the Marshal, when the

Tribunal presently adjourne.
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M. de VABRES: DOENITZ

Doenitz is indigted on Counts One, Two and Three. In 1935 he took
command of the first U-Boat flotilia commissioﬁed since 1918, became in
1936 commander of the submarine arm, was made Vice-Admiral in 1940,
Admiral in 1942, and on January 30, 1943 Commander-in-Chief of the German
Vavy. On 1 May 1945 he became the Head of State, succeeding Hitler,

Crimes Against Peace

Although Doenitz built and trained the German U-Boat arm, the evidence
does not show he was privy to the conspiracy to wage aggressive wars or
that he prepared and intiated such wars. Ee was a linevofficer perforning
strictly tactical duties. He was not present at the important conferences
when plans for aggressive wars were announced, and there is no evidence he
was informed about the decisions reached there. Doenitz d4id, however,
wage aggressive war within the meaning of that word as used by the Charter.
Submarine warfare which began immediately upon the outbtreak of war, was
fully coordinated with the other branches of the Wehrmacht., It is clear
that his U-RBoats, few in number at the time, were fully prenared to wage
war.,

It is true that until his apvrointment in January 1943 as Commander—in-
Chief he was not an "Qberbteferhlshaber." 3But bhis statement underestimates
the importance of Doenitz! position. Pe was no nere Arnmy or division
commander. The U-Roat arm was the principal part of the German fleet and
Doenitz was its leader. The HighuSeas fleet made a few minor, if spectacular,

raids during the early years of the war but the real damage to the
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enemy was done almost exclusively by his submarines as the millions of

tons of allied and neutral shipoing sunk will téstify. Doenitz waé

solely in charge of this werfare. The Naval War Command reserved for

its-1f only the decision as to the number of sulmarines in each area.
Doenitz

In the invasion of Horway, for example,/ made recommendations in Octobler

1939 as to submarine bascs, which he claims were no morc than a steff study,

and in March 1940 he made out the overational orders for the supmworting

U-Boats, as discussed clsewhere in this Judsment. |

That his imvortance to the German wer effort wes so regarded is
eloquently proved by Raeder's recommendstion of Doenitz &s his successor
and his apvointment by Hitler on 30 January 1943 as Commander-in-Chief of
the Navy. EHitler too knew that submarine werfsre was the essential vart
of Germany's naval warfare,

From Jenuary 1943, Doenitz was consulted almost continuously by
Hitler. The evidence wes that they conferred on navzl nroblems ahout 120
times during the course of the war.

As late es April 1945 when he admits he knew the struggle was hopelo;s,
Doenitz as its Commender-in-Chief ur;éd the Havy to continue its fight,

On 1 May 1945 he became the neaa of State and as such ordered the
Wehrmacht to continue its war in the Zast, until capitulation on Mey 1945,
Doenitz exwnlained that his regson for these orders was to insurc that the
Germen civilian vopulation might be evacuated and the Army might meke an
orderly retreat from the East.

In the view of the Tribunal, the evidence shows that Doenitz was

active in waging sgeressive war.
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War Crimes

Doenitz is charged with waging unrestrlcted submarine war-
fare contrary to the Naval Protocol of 1936, %o Which Germany
acceded, and which reaffirmed the rules of submarine warfare
laid down in the London Naval Agrecment of 1930,

The prosecution has submitted that on 3 September 193¢
the German U-3oat arm began to wage unrestricted submarine war-
fare upon all merchant‘ships, whether enemy or neutral,
cynically disregarding tho Protocol; énd that a calculated
effort was made throughout the war to disguise this practice
by making hypocritical refercnces to international law and
supposed violations by the Allies.

Docnitz insists thet at all times the Navy romained -~
within the confines-of internstional law and of the Protocol,.
He testificd that when the war began, the guide to submarine
warfare was the Cerman Prize Ordinance talicn almost literally

from the Protocol, that pursuwant to the German view, he

ordered submarincs to attack all merchant ships in convoy,

l._l

and all that rocfused to stop or used their radio upon sighting

a submarince. “hen his reports indicatced that 3British merchant
ships werc being used to give information by wircless, woere
being armcd and were ettacking submarines on sight, he
ordercd his submarines on 17 Octobor 1939 to attack all
onemy merchant ships without warning on the ground that ,
resistance wasto be ex ecteds, Orders alrcady had been ;
issucd on 21 Scptomber 1939 to attack all ships, including |
neutrals, sailing at night without lights in the BEnglish i
Channel,

On 24 Novembcer 1939, thc Gorman & overnme cnt issucd a
worning to ncutral shipping that, owing to the frequent

engagcments taking placc in : |
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the waters around the British Isles and the french Coast

bctwoen U-Boats and Allied merchant ships which werc crmed

S

-

and hod instructions to uac thosc arms as woll as to ram U

Boats, the gafety of ncutral ships in those waters -could no
s o : -

1=ta

longer be taken for grantcd, On the first of January, 1940,
the Gorman U-Boat command, acting on the instructions of
Mitler, orderecd U-Boats to attack all Greek mcerchoant ships in
the zonc surrounding the British Isles which was banncd by
the Unitcd Statos to its own ships ond also morchant ships
of every nationality in the limited area of the Bristol
Channcle Five deys loter o further ordor wos given to TU-Boats
to "make immediatcly wnrestricted usc of weapons against all
ghips™ in an srca of the North Sea, the limits of which
worc defincds fnally on the 18th of J‘nuﬂrv 1940, U-Boats
wore authorized to sink, without wmrning, cll ships "in those
waters ncar the cnemy coasts in which the wse of mincs can
be pretendedf, IExeccptions werec to be made in thg cagcs of
nitcd Statcs, Italian, Joponcse and Sovict Shipge.

Shortly aftcr thc outbreok of wer tho 3ritish Admiralty,

in cccordance with its Hondbook of Instructions of 1938 to

the morchant navy, armoed its mﬂrcbﬂnt vessclsa, in mqny cascs

convoycd thom with armed cscort, gove orders to scnd position

]

o0
e

eports upon sighting submarincs, thus integrating morchant
vl = 3 (<) S .

<

csgcls into tho worpning nctwork of noval intelligoncs, . On

1 October, 1939, tho British Admiralty announccd
British mcrehont ships had becen ordercd to ram U-Roats if
possiblc.

In thc actual circumstoncca of this ccsc, the Tribunal
is not prcparcd to hold Doonitz guilty for his canduct.of
gubmarinc warfarc against British armcd morchant ships.

Howcver, the proclcmction of opcrational zoncs ond tho
sinking of ncutrcl morchant vessols which ontor thosc

zoncs proscnts a diffcront quostions. This
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practice wos cmploycd in the Wer of 1914-1918 by Germony ond
cdoptoed in rctaliation by Grent Britain, The Washington con-
ference of 1922, the London Naval Agrocment of 1930 and the
Protocol of 1936 wcre ontcred into with full khowlcdge that

First World
such zonos had bucn employed in the/War. Yot the Protocol

made no oxccption for operntional zoncs. The ordcr of Dochitz

to sin¥% noutrel ships without worning vhon found within
thercforc
those zoncs wos,/in the opinion of the Tribunal, a

s

violation of the Protocol,

¥ 1so0o agsortod that the Gorman U-Boct o2rm not

.
48

i

[ 44

only ¢&id not carry out the warning ond roscuc provisions of
tho Protocol hut that Docnitz dcliberatoly ordercd the
killing of survivors of shipwrocked wvcssols, whothor chomy
or ncutral, The prosccution hos introduccd mueh cvidonco
surrounding two ordcrs of Doechnitz, War Ordor No, 154, issued
in 1939, and tho so-cell:cé "Loconin® order of 1942, The
dofense argucs that thesc orders and thoe svidcence supporting
introdvccd much cvidcncoe

them do not show such & policy an

to thc contrery. Tho Tribunal ig of the opinion that tho

svidonce docs not cstoblish with the cortainty rocguircd that

Docnitz delibcrotcely ordored thoe killing of shipwrockced
survivors, . The orders woro undoubtodly embiguous, and
lcgorve the gstrongest censura.

Tho cvidcnec furthcr shows that the rcscuc provisions

werce not carricd out and thet the defondant ordcrod that thoy

P

shoulé not bc carricd oute The argumcnt of the defcnse is
that thc scecurity of the submarinc is, na the first rule of
he sca, paramount to rcscus and that the dovclopment of cir-

craft modc rcscuc impossiblc, This moy bc so, but the

Protocol is cxplicit, If thc commondocr cannot rcscuc, theon

undsr its terms he ecapnot sink a morchaht vesscel and should
2llow it to pous harmlcss before his poriscopo. These ordcors,

then, prove-Dochnitz is guilty of a violation of thc Protocol.
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In vicw of all of thc facts proved and in partiocular of

en ordcr of the British Admiralty annownced on tho 8

according to which

Mry 1940/ 2ll wvesgscls should be sunk at night in the

Skagerrak, and the answerg to intcrrogntorics by Admiral
stating

Nimitz/that unrostrictcd submarinc worfarc was carricd on

in thc Pacific Occan by tho Unitod Statcs from the first day.

that nation cntcred the war, the scntenco of Docnlitz is not .

assgesscd on the ground >f his brcaches of the international

law of gsubmerince warfarc,

Docnitz was also éhargod with rcsponsibility for Hitlor'%
Commondo Order of 18 October 1942, Docnitz acdmitted ho |
roccived and kncew of the ordor whcen he wes Flag Officor of
U-Boots, but disclnimcd rosponsibility. He points out thot
the order by its cxprcss torms excluded men capturcd in
naval wercfaro, that the Nevy hod no tarritoriﬁl commonGs on
land, cnd thot gsubmorince commanders would nover cncountor
commondos e

In onc instoncs, when he was Comwmonder-in-Chicf of the
Navy, in 1943, thc mombers of on 2lliod motor torpcdo boct
werc capturcd by Gorman Nowvel Forccs. Thoy wore intcrrogotod
for intclligonec purposocs on behalf of the local cdmiral,
enéd then turncd ovor by his ordcor to the SD and shote Dochitz
goid thot if thoy worc capturcd by the Navy their cxccution
wﬁs 2" violation of the commando order, that the cxecution
weg not annorncced in the Wohrm&cht.communiquc, and thot he
wes nover informed of the incidont. Ho pointed out that the
admiral in qucstion was not in his chain of command, but
wog subordinatc to the crmy goncral in command of the Norwmy
occupctione. But Docnitz pecrmittcd the ordocr to remein in
full forcc when he became commander-in-chicf, ond to thot
cxtent he is rcsponsiblce .

Doonitz

In a confcronece of 11 Dececombor 1944/soid

12,000 conccntration comp prisoncrs will he cmploycd

in the shipyards os additional lebor," At
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of

Docnitz ' :
thig timc / hod no jurisdiction ovor shipyord construction,

ond cloims that this was merocly a suggcstion at the meeting
that thoe responsiblc officicls do somothing about the production
ships, that hc took no steps to get thesc workers gince it
that ho
mas not o moattor for his juriudiction and/docs not know
whotherx thLy'cvor wcre procurcd, Hc admits hc khow of
concontrotion comps, A men in his position must nocessorily
hove knom thot citizons of occupicd countrics in large
nmsors were confincd in the concentration campse.

In 1945, Hitler roquostced the opinion of Jodl and
Docnitz ~hethor the Genecve Convention should be denounced,
hc notcs of the mocting between the two military loacders
on 20 {fobruary 1945 show thot Doenitz cxprosscd his vicw
that the disadvantagos of such an action outweighed tho
adventagise Tho summory of Docnitz! attitude shown in the
notcgs takcn by an officer, inecludcd the following scntcncc:

"It would ho hotter to carry out the moosurcs l =

congideorsd noccasary without worning, and ot ;

211 costs to savc facce with the outor world."

Tho prosccution ins t;d.thst the meesurca® rofsrred to
meont the Convention should not be denounced, but‘should he
broken at will, Tho dofons¢e oxplanation 1s that Hifler
wantoed to brcak the Convsntion\for two rcoagons: to toke
away from Gorman troops tho protcction of the Convontion,
thus prcvonting them from continuing to surrcnder in 1argé
sroups to tho British ond Amcriccon; and also to pormit

roprisels ogdinst Alliod prisoncrs of war beccuso of Aliicd
bombing raids, Docnitz cleims that what he monct by
Ymcasurces®™ worc diseiplincry measurcs agoins
: thet his ﬁordg
to prcvont thom from surrendering, and/hod no roforcnce
morcover :
to mocourcs sgainst the Alliecs;/that this was mcroly

a suggoation, ond that in ecny cvent no



such HMCASUres Wore over teken, oithor agai

ainat Allies or

Gormanse The Tribunal, howewcr, doocs not bolicve this ox-

planctions  Tho

by Germonyes Tho dcfcnse hes introduced

to prove: that Eritlish newel pr
Docnitz!' jurisdiction worec trcotcd stri

Co nv\nuwon, and the waondul takes this

Js

1>

clrcumastabhcc,

o

Conclugion

The Tribunet: finds Doonitz is not
end is
of the Indictmont,/guilty on Counts Two
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Geneva Convention wos not, howewor, dononncced

goveral olilicavits

.oh, rogording it es o mitigeting eircumstonce,

cuilty on Count Ono
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THE PRESIDENT:

RAEDER

Raeder is indictea on Counts One, Two and Three. In 1928 he became
Chief of Nzval Commend and in 1935 Oberbefehléhabcr der Kriegsmarine (OKM);
in 1939 Hitler nmade him Gross-Admiral, He was a member of the Reich Defense
Council. On 30 January 1943, Doenitz revlaced him at his own request, and he
hecame Admiral Inspector of the Navy, a nominal title.

Crimes agzinst Peace

In the 15 years he commanded it, Raeder built and directed the German
Navy; he accepts full responsibility until retirement in 1943. He admits the
Ngvy violeted the Verszilles Tresty, insistinz it was "a matter of honor for
every man" to do so, and alleges that the vicltations were for the most vart
minor, and Gérmany built less than her sllowzshle strength. These violations,
as well as those of the Anglo-Ggrmen Naval agrecement of 1935, have alrcady bLeen
discussed elsewhere in this Judgment.

Raeder received the directive of 24 June 1937 from von Blomberg requiring
special preparations for wer against Austria. =e was one of the five leaders
present at the Hoszbach Conference of 5§ November 1937. He claims Hitler merely
wished by this conference to spur the Army to faster rearmament, insists he
believed the questions of Austria and Czcchoslovakia would he settled peace-
fully, as they were, and points to the new naval treaty with England which had
just been signed, de received no orders to speed construction of U-Boats,
indicating that Hitler was not vlanning war.

Racder rcceived directives on "Fall Gruen" and the directives on "Fell

Weiss" beginning with that of 3 Aoril 1939; the latter directed the
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Navy to suvpport thc Army by intcrvention from tho sce. Ho
wes also onc of the fow chicf loaders prescnt at the ncoting
of 23 My 1939 Hc attcnded the Oborsclzbuwrg bricfing of

22 Avgust 1939,

Tho conception of the invasion of Norwey first acrosc in
the mind of Recdor and not thot of Hitlor. Despite Hitlorts
dcsirc, as shown. by his dircctivec of Octobor 1939, to kocep

Scandinavia noutrel, the Navy stminod the adwvantoges of neval
besos there cs oorly cg Octobors Admiral Kepls oricinally

suggcstod to Racder the desirablc aspcets of bos
A qucstionneire, datad 3 Octobor 1932, vhich
on tho desirability of such basocs, wos circul

a
C

On 10 Octobhor Racdcr discusacd

tho matbon with Htd

ges an i

OYTinYe

o

sourht ¢ \ﬂﬁ’ntu

Dicry chtry for that doy soys Hitler intcndcod teo give the
& four menthsy loter Fitlor tolkad to

motbcr considoration,
and Jodl; OKW

the Nowval Ver

cd with OKW gtoaff officerse P

tg planning ané
cador

roccivod Kcitol's dircctive for Norwcy on 27 nuary 1940 ond
the subsoquent direcctive of 1 March, signod by Hitloys
Racdor dofonda his nctions:-on thce grownd it was ¢ move to
forcstsll the Britishe It 18 not noeco ¥y cgein to ciscuss
the Tribuncl
this dofonsc, which / have horctofore troatsd in som Cceally
concluding that Germeny'!s invasion of Norway ané Donamek s
egarossive wars In o Yobtcor to tho Nowvy, Booder said: *The
opcrations of tho Navy in tho occupction of Norway will for oli
timec romnin tho great contribution of the Nowvy to this wore®
Roodor rccoived the dircetives, including the innumercble
postponomcnts, for the atteck in the csts In o mocting of

18 Morch 1941 with Hitler he

e

IPcceGe He claims this wes

and Hitlecr had ordcrcd the attack,
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out thc Nevy had no intcrost in Groccoe Ho reecived Hitlorts
dircective on Yugoslavic. ‘

g @ g

Hitleor from cmborking upon

OJ
cr
o
N
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e
p oY
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Recdor cndcavored
the invasion of tho USSR. In Scptember 1940 he urged on Hitler
an cggrossive Mocditorroncan poliey s&s an o ltornctive to an

attock on Russia. On 14 Novombcor 1940 he urged the war £zainst

Znglend "as our main chemy®™ ond thot submrrine and nave

=t
3

1

!

i

force construction bo continusd, Ho voiccd Mscriouvs objecctions
cgainst the Russion compeoign before the defert of England,”

e T r & A T, -~
the German Noval War Staif,. Ho eloims

0
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Q
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e
o
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0
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nis objcetions wore based on thc violction of the Non-Aggrossion

Union ctEcck Russion sUbporinosg din tho Balktlc Scorithin o

spoeifisd wnrning ¢yco ¢nd dcfonds thlis fetion beesvusc tThos

in tho planning onc weging of aggresaive wore.

Racder is chargced with war crimes on the high soage Tho
"ithonia," on unarmed British posschger linor, was sunk on 3
Scptomber 1939, whils outward bound to Amcrica, The Gormons
tvo months lotor charged thet ire Churchill icliborntely annk iff

: 5

icaen hosti
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the "Ethanich ity to Gcrmony,

=

n fact, it was sunk by the Germen U-BDoct 30. Doacdor claims

e

han on inczpericnccd UsBont compand.r senk 4t in migtoke fop

-

ond crmed morehont opulsor, that this wos not Ymown untll the

U-30 roturnc

)]

geveral wecks after the Germon donicl end thot -

Fitler then dircetecd the Novy o ne
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Porcign Offico to continuc denying it.
lodgc of the propoganda campaigh ~ttocking Mre Churchill,

92

ous chars

}_h

TPho most gor

GQ

gainst Roacdor is thet ‘he corrio

out wnrestricted submarinc werfarc, including sinking of un-

armod morchant ships, of noutrals, non-rcscuc ond mechinc-gunning

of survivors, contrary to thec London Protocol of 1536, The

Tribunal mokos the same finding on Racder onm . thia charge ca it

did cos to Docnitz, which hes alrcady boon announced, up until
90 Jonurcry 1943 whcen Recdcr rcturcd.
the
Tho Commando Order/of 18 Octobor 1942 which oxprossly did
not 2pnly to poval warfore, was tronsmittod by the Novel Wap

th tho dirstction 1t

l.-.’v

Stell $o tho loweor novel comuondcras w

should bc distributcd orelly by flotilla loaders and scetion

commondors to their svbordinctca. T”) commnandos were hut to
by : tho

doeth by the Rawy, ohc not/?hc SD, at Bordoaux on/10 Doccember

1942, Theo commont of the Naovel Wer Stoff wos thot thlis wos

}_;:
g
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Q
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W
=
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with the Fuchreris apceinl order,
novertheleosas something new in internotional law, since tho
aoldiors wore in uwniforme.™ Rocder admits he pagscd the order
cown through tho chain of commaond, ond hce ¢&id not objcct to

Conclusion
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is guilty on Counts Onc,
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G.NTRAL VIKITCHENKO:

2

Von Schirach is incdictoed uvndor Cannuu Onz o Eouars - Ho

-

joincd the Nazi Party and tho 84 In 1925, In 1929 he Boeomo

t

L

10 Leader of tho Nationcl Socialist Studonts Unione. In 1931

he was made  Roilchs Youth Leoder of tho Nazi Party with control

over 11 Nazi youth organizetions including the Hitler Jupcond,

In 1933, aftcr thc Nazis had obtcincd control of thce Covornmont,

von Schirach was madce TLeocader of ) Cormon

I’ciehy

originelly o pogition 71th1n tho Ministry of thc Intcrior, hut,

aftcr Docomber 1, 1936, officc in the Boich Cabinct,

In 1940, Fizond ond

u
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von Schirach resignc

Leader of Youth in the Gormon Rcoleh, but rotaincd his position

og RBcichaloiter with control of Youth - Bducatione: - Tn 1940

-

appointod Gauleitcr of Vicnno, Pcichs Govornor of

Vicnna, end Ecichs Defcnso Cormissioncr for that territory.

Crimcs Agoingt Peaco

Aftor tho Nazis hod come to powcr von Schiz

ing both physical violconece end offieicl pressurc, cithcr drove

out of cxistoncc or took over 2ll youth groups which compotod

vi th the Hitlor Jugsnd, A Hitler doercc of Docomber 1, 1936,

incorporatcd all German youth within the Hitler Jugonde 3y

o
3
(9]

ct

imc formel conscription was introduc~é in 1940,

those cligible werc alrocdy memboers.
3od the Eltler Jugond teo cducats Cormen

Youth "in tho spirit of Netional Sncialigm®

to an intcnsive program of Nazi propegende, He

Hitler Jugend os a source of roplacoments for the Nazi Porty
Octoboer 1938 1

formablionas In cntcred
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into an ecgrooment

Hitlor Jugond who

e

military troininges Spcecial wnits wero sotf up whosc prinary

purpos¢c wog training apceialists for the vorious branchos of

~

the scervics,  On August 11, 1989, he optsrod into on ngroc~
mont with Keitel wndor vhich the Hitler Jugend ocgrocd to

corry out itsproliminary cctivitics undey standards laid

c¢omn by the hrmacht ondé the

B & 3 e o o e A e R " ¥ o 7 e T RS
trolining progron strossod the importanes of réeturn of the

colcnica, the ncecsaity Tor Loboparams ond tho neobls fcatiny

o

FEitlor Juscend, howover, it docs not cppcar that von Schirsch
wes involved in the dowclopment of Hitlcorts plan for torritor
al caxponslion by rcans of agar.ssive unr, or thet he porticipptad

in the plonning or preparation of any of the wars of cezrcssions

Crimcs Againgt Bumonity
In July 1940, wvon Schiroch weca oppointcd Ganlsitor of

Vionnae 4%t tho samc $imc he wns appointed Roichs Govornor

for Vionnz rcnd Rcichs Defenso Cormiiagsionor, originally

o
.
J

Militory District 17, including the Geus of Vicnna, uwn\w

1042, for tho

Donubc and Lowcr Danpube and, aftce November 17,
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Crimcs

dumonitys As hog clrcady boch scen,

C o0

Terime

“rarcdor, cxtermine
inhum-ne acta® ¢

relizious grounds?

\

a Crimc againgt Mumeonity

g

Le Gouleoitor
Sauskol Cooret @a
Scuckclts plenip
aupcrvisc
their Gaus Sauek
laborors wore to b
hem to the

highcs

Whecn

attox

Government voulc h

1940, von Scrirach

thot oftcr tho roce

is not chirgsd

plan of
within the

in Artielc

end "porsceutions on

ohentl

the utilization and

von Schiract

al 190,000 Jcws remaincd,

tae: The doportotion of

the Interi of tho vernmontol

o

ior, in chargo

the Reiech in Vienna.
only with the

,- " 2 -
sustric ras

jurisdiction of tho Tribupal," as
6(c) of the Chrrtcr,
tion, oenslavcnont, dcportation ond
political, racicl or
in connuetion with this
ty undcer
of Vionnr, von Schirach camc undor tho

tcé Loril 6, 1942, nmoking thce Gouleiters

ariss Tor ponpower with anthorit

N

trootmont of

oktls dirc providcd that

¢ fod, shcltorcc ond troctod go cs to oxploil

t pogaiblo dogroe at thc lowest pocgible
bheeamc Goulcitor of Vienna the

Copor-
60,000 out

Lo okt = Nones Vw05 Ty Apaas 2 ——
hod alroody boen bogun, and only

«

On - October 2,

a

D

g conforonce ot Hikleply potice ond told

50,000 Jows in Vicnna which the Gonorel
o ve
reecived &

ipt of the Pop Pis nmode by von Sahivrash
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mos thon beogun and copntipuct vntil tho covliy fall of 19&

cn

1’\

On Scptombor 15, 194

he dofonded his cction in hoving drivon "tons of thousands

upon tonas of thousonds of Jowp into the Chotto of 'the Boa
as Meontributing to Buropoan culturc,™
Thilo tho Jows werce hoing doportcd from Viennao

acopepscd o -him in hig o

von Schirachl's office from th: officeofctkhs Chiolf of tho

L)

Scecurity Poliee agné 8D uwhich containod & dosoripntion of £

activitica of Einsctggrupnch in cxtormipnting Jewps lion
of thesc rcports wore initiclcd by one of von Schirech'!

-

principal dcputics, Opn Junc 30, 1944, wvon Sehircchla off

12y Yon Schiraeh mnde o gpoeeh ih “ihaiell

t"

0lso rocoived o lotter from Koltonbrmncer informin: him the

o shipncnt of 12,000 Jows wns on 1ts way to Vicnns i on

osoenticl wor york opd that 211 thvac who werc ihc oo bie

work woul. have to bc kopt in reedincas for "spoeinl cceotione?

Do

tho Teibunal finGs thot von Schircchy, vhile ho

orizinctc the policy of dopcrting Joews from Vicnns, po

in this doeportcotion aftor he hod bocome Goulcitor of Vichnng
Ho kncw theot tho beast tho Jows coull hope for weos o miscrabl

cxiastconce in tho Ghetliees of the Baots Bulletisas desorib

the Jowish cxztorminction werce in hisg officcs
Whilc Gouloiter of Vienno, von Schirach continuce

function na Reichloiter for Youth Ec¢ucetion and in this

copreity he was inforrncd of the Hitler Jusondls porticipation

S

'_h

in sho pliry put

50,000 younz pcoplc betieen the 2zos of 10 and 20 wore

oy

8 K

=%
HES

cvacuntcd into Cormeny from areccs rceopturce by the Sovict

o

*

forccs ond wuscd as opprenticcs in Germeon incdustry and as
Lorics in units of the Oormcn nymod fopée.  In tho

1
of 1942, von Schirach fclegrephcad
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Bormann urging that a bombing attached an English cultural town be
carried out in retaligtion for the assassination of Heydrich which,
he claimed, had heen vplanned by the British.
Conclusion
The Tritunal finds thatfvon Schirgch is not guilty on Count One.

He is guilty under Count Four.
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MR, BIDDLE:
SAUCKEL

Sauckel is indicted under all four ccunts. Ssuckel joined the Nazi
Perty in 1923, and became Gauleiter of Thuringia in 1927. He wes 2 member
of the Thuringian legislature from 1927 to 1933, was apvointed Reichs-
statthalter for Thuringia in 1932, and Thuringian Minister of the Interior
and Heed of the Thuringian State Ministry in Mey 1933, He hrcame s member
of the Reichstag in 1933. He held the formsl renk of 6hnrgrunnonfuphrer
in both the SA and the SO,

Crimes against Peace

The evidence has not satisfied the Tribunal thst Sauckel was suf-
ficiently connected with the common plarn to wage aggressive war or suf?igiently
involved in the planning or waging of the agr-ressive wars to allow the
Tribunel t0 convict hkim on Counts One or Two.

Wer Crimes and Crimecs ageinst Hunanity

On March 21, 1942, Hitler epvointed Sauckel Plenivotentisry General
for the Utilization of Labor, with authority ﬁo vut under uniform control
"the utilization of &ll aveilable manpower, including thet of workers
recruited abroad end of prisoners of wer", Sauckel was instructed to
overate within the fabric of the Four Year Plan, and on March 27, 1942,
Goerinz issurd a drerec as Commigsioner for the Four Year Plan transferring
kis menpower sections to Sauckel. On Septemer 30, 1942, ZHitler geve
Sauckel suthority to avvoint Comnigsioners in the verious occunied terri-
tories, and "to take all necessary mecasures, for the enforcement!" of the
decree of March 21, 1942,

Under the authority which he obtained by these decrees, Saucizel set up

a program for the mobilization of the lebor resources aveilahle to the Reich,
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One of the important parts of this mobilization was the systematic

exploitetion, by force, of the lehior resources of the occupicd territories.
Shortly after Sauckel had taken offi e, he had the governing authorities in
the various occuvied territories issue d-crees, establishing comvulsory
labor service in Germany. Under the suthority of these decrees Sauckel's
Commissioners, backed up by the volice authorities of the occuvied terri-
tories, obtained and sent to Germany the laborers which were necesssry to
£111 the quotes given them by Sauckel. He degerihed so-¢slled "voluntary"
Janatcs
recruiting by/"a whole batch of male and female agents just as was done in
the olden times for shanghaiing". That real voluntery recruiting was the
exception rether thar the rule is shown by Sauckel's statcment on March 1,
1944, that "out of five million foreign workers who arrived in Germeny not
even 200,000 came voluntarily." Although he now claims that the statement
is not true, the circumstances under which it was made, as well as the
evidence presented before the Tribunal leave no doult that it wes
substentielly accurate. ‘

The menner in which the unfortunate slave laborers were collected and
transported to Germany, and what hapvened to them after they arrived, has
already Leen described. Seuckel argues that he is not resnonsible for these
excesses in the adninistration of the wrogram. He says that the total
nunber .of workers to hc obtained was set by the domends from sgricul ture and
fron industry; thet Obteining the workers was the resmonsihility of the
occupation suthorities, trensvorting thom to Germany that of the German rail-
weys, and taking carc of them in Grrmany that of the Ministries of Lahor and
Agriculture, the Gﬂrman Lator Front and the vsrious indussries involved, He

testifies that insofar as he had any suthority le wes constantly urging
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hu~anc troctmont,

Thorc. 18 no coubt, howovcer,®that Scuckcl hod ovorall
recsponaibility for the slave lobaf -program, &t the bine ol
the cvents in qucstion he di¢ not fail to cssort control
gyvor - tho Ticlds whieh Ho povr ¢loinmg were tho oolo TGSpéwsioility
of othcrs. His regulations provicdod thet his Cormiissioncrs
should hove cuthority for obtaininj labor, end ho wos constently
in the £i:1ld supcrvising the stops which weye boing takohs
He wog swarc of ruthloss mothols beinz token to obtain
laborcrs, ant vigorously supportcd them on the greund that
they were neessgory to £41L tho guotney

Stuckclls regulntions clso provided that ho ho€ Pcapope
or trcnsportinge tho leborers to Gormebhy, clloccting

thom to cmployers and taking carc of thonm, ané that the otlior

agencics involved in thesc proccsses werc subordinate to

03

c¥tione el oxlstod,  LE coon

not appear that ho advoentcd brutality for its owh scke, oF

-

wos on adwocate of any program such ag Himmler's plon for
cxtorminction throush work. His attitude wos thus cxpresscd
in o roguletiond

#4111 the ncn rust
in such ¢ vay as
posciblc axteont at

of cxpcnciturc,"

he cvidenco ghows that Souckel wag in charbgo of o progron
which inwvolved Jdoportation for glave labhor of riorc thon
5,000,000 humcn boings, many of thom under torriblc

concitions of cruclty ond suffcring.

Conclugion

The Tribunel finds that Sauckel is not guilty ob
Counts Onc aond Two. He is guilty under Counts Threc an?

B OUX ¢ :
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Jocl 1s Iindictcd on all four coubhts. ~Fron 1955 16 | 253

ho was chicf of the Netiondl Dofensce Soction in the Hisgh C ormond,
Lftor a yoar in commaonc of troops, in +~ugust 1939 hc rcetuphsd

{:‘l

Staff of the High Cormand
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to bceoric Chiet
h his irmcdiatc suporior wos
dcfondeont huitcl, he roportod Zivcctly to Hitler on opcrational
nmottors. In tho strief sdldfary acnsc, Jodl wag ths ccotual
planncr of the war cnd responsiblc in large ricasurce for the
atrategy 2nc concduct of oporationss
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vhen ho signcd or 1rtlcled ordors; monoronch ond lcttors, e

i¢ go for Hitlor cnd offon in the abascnee of Boitels Thowh
ho cleims that cs a goldicr he hod to oboy Hitlcr, he soys
that hc oftcon tricd to ohstruct certain moasurcs by dclay,

whieh oceasionclly provcd succosgful cs vioon he rosistcc

Hitlor's Comand thet o dircctive bo issucd to lynch allicd

Entrios in Jdodl's dionry of 15 and 14 Pobruary 1958

show Eitler instructod both him aond beitol to koop u

militory prossurc against Lustric bogun at the Schuschnigg
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thot thoge
cehicved their purposc. UHhon Hitler dociced "not to tolopato"
Schuschnigg's plcbiscite, Jodl brousht to tho confercence

he "old draft?, the oexisting stoff plan. His diayy fo8 1D

Mcrch shows Hitler thon ordcrcd the preparation of "Ccsc 0tto",
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anc¢ the dircetive wos initisled by Jodl., Jodl isauct supplo-

montory instructions on 11 Morch, and initiclcd Hitler's order

Por the Invanlon on the govic Cobes

In plennipns tho ettack on C¥8hoslovakic, Jodl wis vope

agtive, tceordine to tho chrunnt Notcs., Ho initianlcd itons

14, 17, 24, 36 and 37 in the Notos. Jodl odmits hc agrccd

with OKH that the "incicdont®™ to provide Gormen intcrvention

gt occur ot tho latcst by 1400 on X-1 Doy, the coy before

it must occur ot o fixed timc in good
flying wcather, Jodl conferrcd with the propaga
on Wirmincnt cormon tosksY such as Germen violations of
intocrnetional law, xbolnlt“uvob of tHcm Dy the onory and
refutotions by the Gormans, which "task " Jodl congidorsd
P |
Uparticularly important®,
Lftcr Munich, Jodl vroto:

"Crochoslovakio 83 a2 votr

¥ 1s- 00t a5 THO
of “tho Puchrer ant his

rainction ol € I
without

evcen ¢ Yioprld Viar hovo og von the victory
Gho - Msc by T0PoUy T:e h I””“*nc tﬂ'u thc ine-
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creCulouva, the woeek
bcecn convertcecd and wlll
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Shortly aftor the Sudoton oceupation, Jocl went to o

post commcopcd and ¢id not boeormie Chicf of the Operctions Sta

in OKW until tho cond of ALuguat, 1939,
Jod1 cigcuascd the Norway invasion with Hitlor, iei

-

iacdor on 1 Deeombey 10093 his clcry ia yepletc #th

&
om
hl
o

latc cntrics on hig cetivitics in proporing this cti-ck

Jodél ox®p lains his cormcnt thet Hitler wes still lookine for
that '

an "dxcuso" to nove meant/he wos weiting for rclicblo

intolligenoe on the British plons, ond defonds the invosion

g o poceogaacry nove to forostell thone His tcstimony shows
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from October 1939 Hitlor plannod to attack the Woat through

"f

Belgiuw, but was doubtful about invad n" PﬂlT“n‘ until the
mi-C1lc of Novenber. On 8 Fobrucry 1940, dodl, hiag dcpuby
Werlinont, end Joachonnek, thc cir forcos planncr, discungsed
among thoemsslves the Y"now idca® of attocking Norwey, Donmark
and Hollond, but gucrantcsing the neutrality of Bolgiun,

<)

Meny of tho 17 orders postponing tho attack 1n the Yiegt for
verious rocasons including weother conditions, until Mey JOﬂO,
wore signod by Jodl,

Ho weg cetive in tho plenning against  Crocec and
Yugoslavia, The Hitler order of 11 Jonucry 1941 to intcrvono
in Llbcnia wea initiclod by Jdodls On 20 Janvery, four
ronths before thoe attack, Hitlor told o confcroncc of Corman
anC Italian gonerals in Jollts proscnes thot German troop
conecnhtrations in Rowienia were to bo uscd agoingst Groccos
Jodl was prescnt on 18 Mareh whon Hitlcer told Raoder o1l
Grcecc st bc oceupicd bhefore nany sotfleomcnt conlsd

rcaecheC, On 27 Morch whon Hitlor t21¢ the Gormon High
hat
Corminnd/the dostruction of Yuzosleovia should be accormlizhed

3

itk Yunmorciful b“fﬁhno~"“ anc the doctglion wep takon to

¢ CREEPRT LR ] - 1 P ot 5 4 < R 1 v o T A =
bomb Bclgredo without a deelaPetion of var, Jdodl vns rlso thae

ey
8
—d
2

@

et

DEtler forrcC an cttock by
an® so cttacked first, This preporction bHegon clmost o

ycar before tho invasions 4Jdodl told Worliriont e®8 carly o3
29 July 1940 to prenarc the plens since Iitlor had Joeidad
to attack; and Hitlor loter told Warlimont he hed plconnsd to
attock in ALugust 1940 but postponcd it for nilitery roasons.
Hy 1

n
accor
prope

t

alcd Hitler's dircetive of 12 Hovember 1940
i.! 8

to vhich
N

iti
din >
rctions verbally ordercd should bs continucd and algo

(3

intitialed "Cersc Rarbaroscce™ opnp 18 Dceecrtbore On 3

Fobruary, 1941, Jitlcr, Jodl ond Xcitel “iscuagod
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tha invogion, and ho woa prescnt on 14 Junc whon 1

rcports on "Cnso Berbarossa®™ wers modc,

War Crincs and Crimos ogainst Hurcnity

On 18 October 1942 Eitler lasucd the Comionds Order and @
oy lotcr a supplenmentary oxplonation to corrmionding officers
only. Tho covoring nomorondum wos ssigncc by Jodl. Eovly
erafts of the ordcr worc made by Jodlts staff, with his
knowledges doCl tpdt Ticd he wras strongly opposcd on mioral
ane. lopgel grounds, but could not rcfusc to posgs 1t one Ho ins
iiets he tricd to mitigotc its harshnoss in precticc by not

the OKW nemorcndum of 25 Junc 1944 rooffirmins the Order

]

aftcr the Normondy londings,
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A plan to climinatc Sovict _conm
¢ircctivo for "Cosc Berbarossa™s Tho doeision vhothoy thoy
shonld Be Willed withont triel whs o he mody by cn offic vy

& Creft containg Jodll's honcwriting suggeoting this s

bo kandlicd ca yotolictiony th ho TogtificC this wa hisn

attcapt to get cround 1%,
Wheon in 1948 Hitler considorcd Conouneing tho CGoncva
g -
Convention, Jodl argucd thé Cisalvantages outwoighcd tho

advantageass  On 21 Mobruery hoe told Hitleor olheoroncc %o tho

-

Convontion would pot Interforeo with the eoncuet of the worg

glving as on oxamplc tho sinking of o Bif tish hospitcl =hip
a8 o orepriscl ond ecllling iV 0 ritgtales W @0 ge lic iC go
beecucse 1t woa the only attitudoc Hitlor would considcr, that

rioral or legol argunonts hac po offcct onc orgucs ho thua

prevented Hitlor fron denouncing the Conventions

L%
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There is little evidence that Jodl was actively connected with the
slave lalor program, and he must have concentrated o6n his strateric ®lanning
function. But in his speech of 7 November 1943 to the Geuleiters he ssid
it was necessary to act "with remorseless vigor and rfsolution" in
Denmark, Frence and the Low Countries to comvel work on the Atlantic Wall,

By teletyoe of 28 October 1944, Jodl ordered the evacuation of all
versons in Northern Noryay end/zﬁining of their houses so they could not'
helo the Russians., Jodl says he was ageinst this, but Eitler ordered it
end.it was not‘fully cavried out. A4 document of the Norwegian Government
says such an evgcuation did take vlace in Northern Norway and 30,000 houses
were damaged. On 7 Octoher 1941, Jodl signed an order that Hitler would
not accept en offer of surrender of Leningrad or Moscow, but on the
contrary he insisted that they be completely destroyed. He says this was
done because the Germans werc afrzid those cities would be mined by the
Rugsians as was Kiev. No surrender was ever offered.

dis defense, in brief, is the doctrine of "suwnerior orders",
prohibited by Article 8 of the Charter as a defense. There is nothing
in mitigation. Particivation in such crimes as these has never heen
required of any soldier end he cannot now shield himself behind a mythicel
requirement of soldierly obedience at all costs as his excuse for
conmission of thesec crinmes,

Conclusion

The Tritunel finds that Jodl is guilty on all four counts.
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THE PRESIDENT: VCN PAPEN

Von Papen is indicted under Counts Cne and Two. He was zppointed
Chancellor of the Reich on June 1, 1932, and was succeeded by von
Schleicher on December 2, 1932. He was m:de Vice Chancellor in the
Hitler Ccbinet on January 30, 1932, &nd on November 12, 1933, Pleni-
potentiary for the Saar. On Julyv26, 1934, he was zppointed Minister
to Vienna, and was r:called on Februsry 4, 1938. Cn ‘pril 29, 1739,

he was azppointed Amb:ssador to Turkey. He returned to Germsny when

Turkey broke off diplomitic relations with Germsny in An ust 1944.

Crimes against Peace

Von Papen was active in 1932 and 1933 in helpin, Hitler to form
the Coalition Cabinet and aided in his appointment as Chancellor on
January 3C, 1933. 4s Vice Chancellor in that Cubinet he participated

n1933. On June 16, 1$34,

',_Iv

in the Nazi consolidation of control
however, von Papen made a speech at Marburg which contained a denunciation
of the Nazi attempts to suppress the free press and the church, of the
existence of a reign of terror, and of "150% Nazis" vwho were mistaking
"orutality for vitality." Cn June 3C, 1934, in the wave of violence
which accompanied the so-czlled Roehm F 'rre, von Papen was taken into
custody by the SS, his office force was arrested, and two of his
associates, including the man who hzd helped him work on the l:rb.rs
speech, were murdered. Von Papen was released on Juiy B 930,

Nothwithstandine the murder of his associates, von P:pen accented
the position of Mfinister to Austria on July 26, 19°4, the d-y after

Dollfuss had been assassinated. His appointment -was :nnounced in a
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letter from Hitler which instructed him to direct relations between
the two countries "into normal antigriendly channels!" and assured
him of Hitler's"complete and.unlimited confidence." As Minister to

7 to stren:then the vosition c¢f

<

Austria, von Papen was active in tryin
the Nazi Party in Austriz for the purpose of brinsing abo:t Anschluss.
In early 1935 he attended o meeting in Berlin 't which the policy was
laid down to avoid everything which would give the appe:rance of
German intervention in the internal affairs of .ustria., Yet hLe arrénged
for 200,000 marks a month to be transmitted to "the persecuted Netiornal
Socialist sufferers in Austria." On lay 17, 1935, he reported to
Hitler the results of a conference with Captain Leopold, the Leader of
the Austrisn Nazis, and urged Hitler to make : statement recognizing
the national independence of Austria, and predicting that the result
micht to be help the formation of a coalition between Schuschnigg's
Christian Socialists and the Austrian Nazis arsainst Starhemberg. On
July 27, 1935, von Papen reportel to Hitler that the union of Asstris
and Germany could not be brouriit eabout by external nressure but only
by the strength of the National Socizlist liovement, He urged thst the
Austrian Nazi Party chanpge its character as a centr-lized Tleich Cermen P rty
aﬁa become z rallying point for all National Cernens.

Von Papen was involved in cccasional Nazi politiczl demonstrations
supported Nazi propsganda activities and submitted detziled report:z on
the activities of the Nazi Farty, and routine reports relatin; to Austrizn
military defenses. His isustrizn policy resulted in the a;reement of
July 11, 1936, which nominally restored relations between Cermany and

Austria to '"normal and friendly form", but which had & secret supplement

providing for a2n amesty for Austrian Nazis, the lifting of censorship




on Nazi papers, the resumption of political activities by Nazis and the
appointment of men friendly to the Nazis in the Schischnirg C.binet,
After the signing of this sgreenent ven Papen offered to resign but his

resignation was not accepted. Thereafter he proceeded to bring continied
pressure on the Austrian Governmont to bring Nazis into the Schuschnirg Cabinet
and to get them important pcsitions in the Fatherland Front, Austria's single
legal party. OCn September 1, 1936, von Papen wrote Hitler advising him that
anti-Nazis in the Austrian Ministry of Security were holding up the infiliration
of the Nazis into the Austrian Government :n? recommended bringing "slowly
intensified pressure directed at changing ‘the regime",

On February 4, 1938, von Papen was notiiied of his recall as Minister to
Austria, at the same time that von "ritsch, von Blowberg and von Ne r:.th were
removed from their positions. He informed Hitler that he regretted his recall
because he had been trying since Noverber 1937 to induce Sch'schnigg to hold a
conference with Hitler and Schuschnigg had indicsted his »:illinsness to do so.
Acting under Hitler's instructions, von Paipen then returned to Aistria nd
arranged the conference which was held at Berchtesgaden on Febr ary 12, 1938,
Von Papen accompanied Schuschnipg to that conference, and at its conclusion
advised Schuschnigg to comply with Hitler's demands. Cn March 1C, 1938, pIitler
ordered von Papen to return to Berlin., Von Prpen was in the Chzncellery on
March 11 when the occupation of Austria was ordered. No evidence has been

offered showing that von Papen was in favor of the decision to occupy Austria

by force, and
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he has testified that he urged Hitler not to take this step.

After the annexation of Austria von Papen retired into private
life and there is no evidence that he took any part in politics, He
accepted the position of Ambassador to Turkey in April 1939 but no
evidence has been offered concerning his activities in that position
implicating him in crimes,

The evidence leaves no doubt that von Papen's primary purpose
as Minister to Austria was to undermine the Schuschnigg re;ime and
strengthen the Austrian Nazis for the purpose of bringings about
Anschluss. To carry through this plan he engaged in both intrigue
and bullying. But the Charter does not make criminal such offenses
against political mdrclity, however b:zd these may be, Under the Charter
von Papen can be held guilty only if he was a party to the planning of
aggressive war, There is no showing that he was a party to the plans
under which the occupation of Austria was a step in the direction of
further aggressive action, or even th.t he participatéd in plans to

1,

occupy Austria by aggressive war if necessary., But it is not established
beyond a reasonable doubt that this was the purpose of his activity,
and therefore the Tribunal cannot hold that he was & party to the
common plan charged in Court One or participated in the planning of
the aggressive wars charged under Count Two,
Conclusion
The Tribunal finds that von Papen is not guilty under this Indict-

ment, and directs that he shall be discharged by the Marshal, when the

Tribunal presently adjourns.

17051



MAJCR GENERAL NIKITCHENKO:

SEYSS~-TNQUART

Seyss~-Inquart is indicted under all Fbur Connts. Seyss-Inguart, an
Austrian attorney, was appointed State Councillor in Austria in May 1937
as a result of German pressure, He had been associated with the Austrian
Nazi Party since 1931, but had often had difficulties with that Party
and did not actually join the Na:zi Party until March 13, 1938. He was
appointed Austrian linister of Security and Interior with control over
the police pursuant to 6ne of the conditions which Hitler had imposed on
Schuschnigg in the Berchtcsgaden conference of February 12, 1938.

Activities in Austria

Seyss~Inquart participated in the last stuges of the Nazi intrigue
which preceded the German occupation of Austria, and was made Chancellor
of Austria as a r.sult of Ggrman threats of invasion,

On March 12, 1938, Seyss-Inquart met Hitler at Linz and made a speech
wclcoming the Georman forces and advocating the reunion of Germany and
Austria, On March 13, he obtained the passage of a law providing that
Austria should become a province of Germgny’and succecded liklas as
President of Austria when Miklas resiprned rather than sisn the law, OSeyss-
Inquart's title was changed to Reichs Governor of Austria on lM-rch 15,
1938, and on the same day he was given the title of a2 Ceneral in the SS.
He was made a Reichs Minister without Portfolio on lay 1, 1¢29,

On ¥arch 11, 1639, he visited the Slovakian Cabinet in Bratislava
and induced them to declare their independence in a way which fitted in

closely with Hitler's offensive against the independence of Czechoslovekia,
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As Reichs Covernor of Austria, Seyss-Inquart instituted a program
of confiscating Jewish property. Urler his regime Jews were forced to
emigratc, were sent to concentration camps and were subject to pogroms.
At the end of his regime he cooperated with the Security Police and SD
in the deportation of Jews from Austria to the East, hile he was
Covernor of Austria, political opponents of the Nazis were sent to concen-
trotion camps by the Gestapo, mistreatcd and often killed.

Criminal Activitics in Poland and the Netherlands

In 3cptember 1639, Seyss-Inquart was appointed Chief of Civil Adminis-
tration of South Poland. On October 12, 1939, Seyss-Inquart was made
Deputy Governor Ceneral of the Gencral Government of Poland under Frank,

Cn lay 18, 1940, Seyss-Inquart was appointed Reich Commissioner for
'occupied Netherlands, In these positions he assumed responsibility for
governing territory which had been occupied by aggressive wars and the
administration of which was of vital importance in the aggressive war being
waged by Germeny.

As Deputy Governor General of “he General Government of Poland, Seysse
Inquart was 2 suprorter of the harsh occupation policies which were put
in effect. In November 1939, while on an inspection tour through the
Ceneral Government, Seyss-Inquart stated that Poland was to be so administered
as to exploit its economic rcsources for the benefit of Germany., Seyss-
Irquart also advocated the persecution of Jews and was iniormed of the
beginning of the AB action which involved the murder of many Polish
intellectuals,

As Reichs Commissioner for Cccupied Netherlands, Seyss-Ingrart was

ruthless in applying terrorism to suppress all oppositicn to the German
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occupation, a program which he described as "amnihilating" his opponenté.
In collaboration with the local Higher SS and Police Leaders he was
involved in the shooting of hostape for offenses against the occupation
authorities and sending to concentrztion camps all s spected opponents
of occupation policies including priests and educators, lMany of the Duteh
police werc forced to participate in these programs by threats of reprisal
against their families., Duteh courts were also forced to participate in
this program, but when they indicated their relactance to give sentences
of imprisonment because so many prisoners were in fact killed, a greater
cmphasis was placed con the use of summary poli;e courts,

Seyss-Inquart carried out the cconomic administration of the
Netherlands without regard for rul.s of the Hague Convention which he
described as obsolete. Instead, a policy was adopted for the maximum
utilization of economic potential of the Nétherlands, and executed with
smr1]l regard for its effect on the inhabitants. There was widespread
pillage of public and private property which was piven color of legality
by Scyss-Inquart's regulations, and assisted by manipulations of the
financial institutions of the Netherlands under his control,

As Reichs Commissioner for the Netherlands, Seyss-Inquart immediately
began sending forced laborers to Germany. Up ntil 1942, labor service in
Cermany was theoretically voluntary, but was ectually coerced by strong
cconomic and governm@ntal pressure, In 1942 Seyss-Inquart formally
decreed compulsory labor service, and utilized the services of the
Security FPolice and SD to prevent evasion of his order. During the

occupation over 500,000 people were sent from the Netherlands to the
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Reich as laborers and only a very small proportion were actually volunteers.

One of Seyss-Inquart's first steps as Reich Commissioner of the
Netherlands was to put into effect a series of laws imposing economic
discriminations against the Jews. This was followed by decrees requiring
their registratioh, decrees composing them to reside in Ghettos and to
wear the star of David, sporadic rests and detention in concentration
camps, and finally, at the suggestion of Heydrich, the mass deportation
of alimost 120,000 of Holland's 140,00C Jews to Auschwitz and the "final
solution,”  Seyss-Inquart admits knowing that they were going to Auschwitz
but claims that he heard from peoplc who had been to Auschwitz that the
Jews were comparatively well off there, and that he thought that they
were being held thcre for resettlement after the war. In light of the
evidence and on account of his official position it is impossible to
beclicve this claim,

Seyss-Inguart contends that he was not responsible for many of the
crimes committed in the occupation of the Nethecrlands because they were
either ordered from the R;ich, committed by the Army, over which he had
no control, or by the German Higher S5 and Police Leader, who, he claims,
reported directly to Himmler, It is true that some of the excesses were
the responsibility of the Army, and that the Higher SS and Police Leader,
although he was at the disposal of Seyss-Inguart, could always report
directly to Himmler, It is also true that in certain cases Seysse
Inquart opposed the extreme measures used by these other agencies, as
when he was largely successful in preventing the Army from c rrying out
a scorched earth policy, and urged the Higher SS :nd Police Leaders to

reduce the number of hostages tc be shot, But the fact remains that
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Boyas-Ingqua rt wos o knowing and voluntary perticipant inp

-
x

in th. occupation of the Nothorlands,

The Tribunal finds thot Scyss-
uncor Counts Two, Thrcc and Four,

~uilty on Count Onc,
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MR, BIDDLI¢

SPLER

Speer 1s indicted under all Four Counts. Speer joined the Nazi
Party in 1932, In 1934 he was made Hitler'!s architect and became a
close personal confidant. Shortly thereafter he was made a Department
Head in the Germen labor Front and the official in Charge of Capital
Construction on the staff of the Deputy to the Fuehrer, positions which
he held through 1941. On February 15, 1942, after the death of Fritgz
Todt, Speer was appointed Chief of the Orgunization Todt and R€ich
Minister for Armaments and Munitions (after September 2¢ 1943, fop
Armaments and War Production), The positions were supplemented by his
appointments in March and April 1942 as Ceneral Plenipotentiary for
Armaments and as a member of the Central Planning Board, both within
the Four Year Plan., Speer was a member of the Reichstag from 1941
until the end of the war,

Crimes against Peace

The Tribunal is of opinion that Speer'!s activities do not amount
to initiating, plamning, cr preparing wars of aggression, or of
conspiring to that end. He became the head of the armament industry
well after all of the wars had been commenced and were under way, His
activities in charge of German Armament Production were in«id of the
war ¢ffort in the same way that other productive enterprises aid in the
wazging of war; but thc Tribunal is not prepared to find that such
activities involve cngaging in the common plan to wage aggressive war
as charged under Count I or waging aggressive war as charged under

Count IT,
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War Crimes and Crimes ageinst Humanity

The cvidence introduced agijnst Speer under Counts Three and Four
rclates cntircly to his participation in the slave labor program,

Speer himsclf had no direct administrative responsibility for this
pregram. Although he had advecated the appointment of a ngeral
Plenipotenti-ry for the Utilization of labor beczuse he wanted one
central authority with whom he could deal on labor matters, he did

not obtain administrative control over Sauckel. Sauckel was appointed
dircctly by Hitler, under the decree of March 21, 1942, which provided
thaet hc should be directly responsible to Goering, as Plenipotentiary
of the Four Year Plan,

As R;ich Minister for Armaments and Munitions and General Fleni-
potentiary for Armoments under the Four Year Plan, Speer had extensive
authority over production. His original authority was over construction
and production of arms for the OKH, This was progressively expanded to
include naval armaments, civilian production and finally, on August 1,
1944, air armements, As the dominant member of the Central Planning
Board, which had supreme authority for the scheduling of Gérman production
and the a2llocation and development of raw materials, Speer took the
position that the Board had authority to instruct Sauckel to provide
laborers for industries under its control and successded in sustaining
this position over the objection of Sauckel, The practice was developed
under which Spcer transmitted to Sauckel an estimate of the total number
of workers neceded, Sauckel obtained the labor and allocated it to the
various industries in accord:nce with instructions supplied by Speer.

Speer knew when he made his demands on Stuckel that they would be
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supplicd by forcign laborers serving under compulsion. He participated
in conferences involving the extension of the slave labor program |
for the purpose of satisfying his demands, He was present at a
conference held during August 10 and August 12, 1942, with Hitler and
Sauckel at which it was agreed that Sauckel should bring laborers by
force from occupied territories where this was necessary to satisfy the
‘labor needs of the industries under Speer!'s control, Speer also zttended
a conference in Hitler!'s headquarters on Januvary 4, 194, at which the
decision wes made that Sauckel should obtain M"at least 4 million new
workers from occupied territorics" in order to satisfy the demands for
labor made by Spcer, although Sauckel indicated that he could do this
only with help from Himmler,

'Sauokel continually inforimed Specer and his representatives that
foreign laborers were being obt ined by force, At o meeting of March 1,
194L, Spcerts deputy questioned Sauckel very closely about his failure
to live up to the obligntion to supply four million workers from
occupied territories. In some cascs Specr demanded loborers from
specific foreign countries, Thus, -t the conference Aurust 10-12, 1942,
Sauckel was instructed to supply Speer with "o further million Russian
lsborers for the Germon armament industry up to and including October
1942.,% At a meeting of the Cenbr-l Planning Board on April 22, 1943,
Speer discussed plans to obtain Russian laborers for use in the coal
mines, and flatly vetoed the suggestion that this labor deficit should
be made up by German lcbor,

Speer has argued that he odvocated the reorganization of the

lebor program to place a greater cmphasis on utilization of German
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lebour in war production in.Garmany and on the use of labour in occupied
countrics in local procduction of consumer goods formerly produced in
Germony. Speer took steps in this direction by establishing the so-
called " "blocked industries" in the occupied territories which were used
to producc goods to be shipped to Germany., Employees of these industries
were immune from deportation to Ger&any as slave lcbourers and any
worker who had been ordered to go to Germany could avoid deportation if
he went to work for a blocked industry. This system, although somewhat
less inhumone than deportation to Germany, was still illegal., The system
of blocked industries played only o smnll part in the overall slave
labour progr-mmc knowing the way in which it was actually being
administcred. In on official scnse, he was its prineipal beneficiary
and hc constantly urged its oxtension.

Spcer was also directly involved in the utilization of forced
lebour as Chief of the Orgsnization Todt. .Thc Crganization Todt
functioncd prineipally in the occupicd areas on such projects as the
Atl-ntic ¥Wall and the construction of militafy highways, and Speer has
admitted that he relied on compulsory service toc kecep it adequately
staffcd., He a2lso used concentration camp labour in the industries under
his control, He originally arranged to tap this source of labour for
use¢ in small out of the way factories; and later, fearful of Himmler's
jurisdictional ambitions, attempted to use as few concentration camp
workers as possible,

Speer was also involved in the use of prisoners of war in armament

industries but contents that he only ubilized Soviet prisoners of war in
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industries covered by the Geneve Convention.

Speer's position was such that he was not directly concerned with
the cruelty in the administration of the slave labor program,
although he was awarc of its existence. For example, at meetings of
tﬁu Central Plonning Board he was informed that his demands for labor
were so large as to necessitate violent methods in recruiting, At a
meeting of the Central Planning Board on Cctober 3C, 1942, Speer voicgd
his opinion that mony slave laborcrs who cléim@d to be sick were-
malingerers and stated: "There is nothing to be said aguinst SS and
Police teking drastic steps and putting thosc known as slackers into
concentration camps, " Specr, however, insisted that the slave
laborecrs b; given adequate food and working conditions so that they
could work efficicntly.

In mitigation it must be rccognized that Speer!s establishment
of blocked industries did kcep many laborers in their homes and that
in the closing-stxges of the war he was one of the few men who had the
courage to tell Hitler that thé war was lost and to take steps to
prevent thc senscless destruction of production facilities, both in
occupicd territorics and in Germony. He carried out his opposition
to Hitler's scorched earth program in some of'the Western countries

and in Cermany by deliveratcly sabotaging it at considerable personal
Conclusion

The Tribunal finds that Speer is not guilty on Counts Cne and Two,

but is guilty under Counts Three and Four,
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M,-Cec V..BRES:

VON NEURLTH

Von Nourath is:indietcd under all Four Counts, Ho
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preporol by Copl Heyrrion Pechlkk on tho aanc subjoet, BHth

o

degalt with the gucstion of Scrrnnization ond propogc

|_r

thet the nmajority of thce Czochs mizht be csginilrtced
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Nourath's by cxpulsion, Frank's by cxpulsion or “gpccisl
rcatricnt, ]

Von Hournth hos argucd that tho actuel onforecricnt of
the reprossive roocsures was ocarricd out by the Sccurity‘
Policc and 8D who werc under the contrnl of his State
Scerotory, C~rl Hermanh Fronk, vho tns cppolintcd at the
sugrostion of Hirpilor and who, o8 o Highor 88 apd Police
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von Nourcth
In ritigation it rust be rcricrbored that / did inter-

vone with the Sccurity Policy and SD for tho rclonsgc of
rnany of the Czcchoslovaks whao were arrcstod on Scopterber 1,
1939, and for the reolcnac of students arrostod later in .
the falle On Scpterber 25, 1941, he wag swrionod before
Hitler and told that ho was boing not harsh cnouzh and
that Hoydrich wes being scnt to the Protoctornte to combat
the Czechoslovakian rosistanco groupse Von Neurath g

but in vain,
attorpted to dissunde Hitleor from sonding Hcyﬁrich/ and
when he was hot sucecossful offercd to rcsighe Yhon his
rosignoation was not acceptod he went on lcawve, on
Scptonber 27, 1941, and rcfuscd to cet as Protector aftor
thet datces Hls rosignntion wes forrially acccopted in

Lugust 1943,

Conclusion

The Tribuncl finds thot von Nournth is guilty under

all fow countas
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FRITZSCHE
Fritzsche is indictod on Counts Onc, Threce and Four, Hc
wng boat knowvn as ¢ rocdio corrichtator, discussing onco & weok
thc ovonts of tho day on his own progran, "Hon Pritzscho

Spoaks, ™

Ho bogan braodeasting in Scptcerbor 19323 in tho

sanc yeor ho wns mndo the hoead of the 'iirolcss News Sorvice,
r Recich Governriont Lgencys Vhon on Moy 1, 1935, thls czoney
wes incorporntod by the N-tionnl Socinlists into their Doich
Ministry of Populrr Epnli-htonmont and Propaganda, Fritzscho
boearic o nicribor of the Nozi Party and wont to that Ministry.
In Dececanber 1938 he beecric head of the Home Prcss Division

of tﬁo Ministry; in October 1942 he'wrs proriotod to the rank

of Ministcrinl Dircctor Hfter sorving briofly on the Eastorn
Front in o propagenda comprny, he wns, in Novenbor 1942, mode
head of thc Rrdio Dividon of the Propaganda Ministry o~nad
Plonipotontin?y for the Politlenl Orgoniszrntion of tho CGronte
Gerron  Redio, ;

Crincs apgainst Pcooco

L8 head of the Horic Pregs Division, F ritzache supcrviscd
the Gerrien pross of 2,300 Crily nowspoapors, In pursucnco of
this function ho held dally prcss conforcnecs to deliver thoe
dircctivcs of tho Propaganda Ministry to thosc papors. Ho
wns, howcver, subordinato to Dictrich, the Reich Pross Chief,
who wes in turn o subordinato of Goobbelse It was Dictrich
who rcccived the dircetives to the prcsa of Goobbcels end
other Rcich Ministcrs, and proparced thon ne instructions,
which hc then honded to Fritzsche for tho prcss.

Fron tins to tine, the "Daily Parolos of the Reich

Press Chicf", os those instructions woro labeloed, dirccted

th:e press to precsont to
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hinsclf occosionally held those confercneos, but only whon
Bocbbels and his Statce Sodrot:rios wore nbacnt, ind oven
thon his only function wng to transnit thc Boobbols'! dirce-
tivos reclayed tolhin by tclephonos,

This is the swmory of PFritzschc'!s positions ~nd
influonce in the Third Rciche Nover A4id he cchicve guf-
flcicnt ataturc to cttend the planning eonfcecroncces which

lod to aggressive wer; indoed aecording to his own uncon-

5

tradicted testimony he nover cven hrd o conversntion with
Hitlcr, Nor is there any showing that ho wns informgcd of
the Coeislons tckon at thesc conforcnecs, His rectivitios
cromot bo snid to be thosc which frll within tho Acfinition
of the ecrmon plen to wrge aggrossive wor os alrency sct
forth in this Judgricnt,

War Crimcs and Crinocs azainst Humecnity

()

The prosccution has asgsorted that Pritzscho incitcd
anc onecouragcC the commission of war crimes, by deliborrntoly
folsifying nows to arousc in tho Gorman people thosc presions
which lcd them to the cormission of atrocitics undor Counta
Threcc anc. four, His position ond officinl Jutics worc not
sufficlontly important, however, to infcr thot he took part
in originating or forrmleting propezanda enrpoizha,

Excorpts in cvidenec from his spocches show c¢finito
enti-Scmitisn on his part, Io broodenst, for oxorplc, that
the war hod boch cousec by Jows and said their fotc hed
turncd out "as unpleosont os tho Puchrer prodictcd,”™ But

thesc apcceches did nont urge porsccution or extorriinotion of

Jowse Therc is no cvicdonec thnt he wos ~awere of thoir

xtcrmination in the Easte The cvidonec norcover shows thot
he twiecc attomptol to have publicntion of the anti-Scmitic

"Dor Sturmcr® supprcsscd, thoush unsuccossfully.
e
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In thcse broocdensts Fritzache somctincs spread falsc

ncws, but it wes not provcC he know it to be frlse, fFop

oxanmplc, he rcportcC that no Gerran U-Boot wns in the vicinity

of tho !

$ithonic®™ whon 1t wns sunk. This inforriction wes
untruc; but Fritzscho, hoving rcesived it £rom the CGormon
Navy, hod no rcason to believe it was untruc,

It cppcors thet Priftzache somctimes made strong stato-
ments of o propagancistic naturc in his brondecsta, But tho
Tribunal 1s not prcparcd to hold thet they were intonded to
ineitc the German pooplc to corrdit atrocitics on conquercd

pocoplcs, cnd ho esnnot be held to hove b porticipant in

Q

ch

3

the erines charged, His oim wes rather to aromsc populcy
sontirent in support of Hitler ond the Goerran war effort,

Conelusion

The Tribunel finds thot Fritzsche ig not zuilty under

=

this indictnment, and dircets thrt he shell be dlscharged by

the Mareshal vicn the Tribunel proscntly adjournhss
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BORILNN
icted on Counts Onc, IhrJu, ~nd Frur,
Ho joincd tho Notionnl Socinlist Prrty in 1925,was o
nomber of the Staff of tho Suprcric Corrnd of the 8.
fron 1928 to 1930, wos in chargec of the 110 Fund of the
Party, and wos Rcichslcitcf fron 1933 to 1945, Fron 1933
to 1941 he wns Chicf of Staff in tho O0fficc of thc Fuchror's
Doputy fni, nftor the flizht of Hoss to England, bocaro
Hood of the Pnrty Chencolleory on 12 liny 1941, On 12 Lpwil
1943 ho beennc Scerotary to the Fuchrer, He was politicrl
rnc. orgrnizational hoad of the Volkssturn and o General in

tho 83,

Crires armoinsgt Poaco

. but then
Borronn, in the hoginning o minor Nazi,/stcendily rosc to

o position of powor and, partieulrrly in the closing Javs

e

Fal

of groot influonce over Hitler, Ho wes'‘notive in tho Party's

-

riso to powoer and even riorc do in the eonsolidction of That
power, Ho “ovotel rmich of his tine to the persccecution of
the ehurchos and of tho Jows wilthin Gerrnnny.

The ovidence cocs not show that 3-rrnnn knew of

Hitlor's plans to proparc, initistc or woge cggrogsivo vworse

Ho nttoncded nonc of tho important conforonces whon Hitler
rovonlod ploce by pleece thoso plans for azgrossion. Nor

can knowledge bo eonclusively inforrcd from tho praitions

ho holde It was only when ho beeare Hoed of tho Porty
Chanccllcry in 1941, an” lator in 19438 soerctary to tho

fuchrer when ho ettended many of Hitlor'!s c-nfercneccs,

thot hls posltions gnvo hin the ncecsanry nccoss,’ Undor

the vicw statecd clsewhere which the Tribuncl has takon of

tho. conapiraecy to wonge aggrosgive wnr, thero is not sufficicnt

cvicconeo to bring
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Bormenn within the scopc of Count Onc.

War Crimes and Crimcs against Humanity

By dccrcetgf 29 May 1941, Bormenn took over the offices and powers
held by Hess; by/gecrce of 24 Jrnuary 1942 thesc powcrs were extended to
give him control over all laws and directives issued by Hitler, He was
thus recsponsibic for laws and orders issued therecafter., On 1 Deccmber 1942,
all Gous became R:ich Defecnse districts, and the Party Gauleiters respons-
iblc to Bormann wcre appointed R;ich Def.nse Commissioners. In effect,
this made them the administrators of the entire civilian war effort. This
was so not only in Germany, but also in tbese territorics which were in-
corporated inté the Reich from the ibsorbed a2nd conquered territories,

Through this mechanism Bormann controlled the ruthless exploitations
of thc subjected populacc. His order of 12 August 1942 placed all‘party
ageneics at the disposal of Himmler's program for forced rescttlement and
denotionalization of persons in the occupied countries., Threc weeks ofter
the invasion of Russi, he attcndcd the conference of 16 July 1941 at
Hitler's ficld quarters with Gocring, Roscnberg and Kcitel; Bormann's
report shows that there were discussed and dcveloped detailed plans of
enslavement and annihilation of the population of these territories. And
on 8 May 1942 he conferred with Hitler and Rosenberg on the forced rescttle-
ment of Dutch personnel in Iatvia, the extermination program in Russia, and
the cconomic exploitation of the Eastern Territories. He was intercsted in
the confisc~tion of art and othcr properties in the East., His letter of
11 January 1944 czlled for the creztion of a large-scalc organiration to

withdraw commoditics from the occupied territories for the bombed-out
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German populacc,

Bormionn was oxtronicly active in the porsceviion of tﬁo
Jows, not only in CGermany but clso in thc cbsorbed and con-
quercd countrics, IHc took part in the
to thc roriovel of 60,000 Jdews from Vicnne to Poland in cooper-
ation with the SS ~nd the Gostapos He si
31 licy 1941 cxtonding the Nurnberg Lows to the nfnnoxed feos

Torritoricse In an ordcecr of 9 Octoboer 1942 he declarcd that

h

the perinnent clirdnetion of Jews in Greater German territory

could no 1 -ngor bo solved by onigretion, but only by opplying

"ruthless forece" in thc special crrips in the Ecst, On 1 July

1943 he signed an orCinencc withdrawing Jows From the protceiion

of the low courts ond plﬂcin; therr under thoe cxelusive juris
diction of Hirmlcr's Gestopo.

Borrmann was pronincnt in the slave lebor prn;fnn. Tho
Porty Leaders superviscd slﬁvr 1npor motters In tho rospoetive
Grus, inclu’ing ocmployment, conditions of work, facdins and

housings Sy his ¢lreulcy of b lny 1943 fo the Le&dorship

v

A '.

Corps, Clistributel Cdown to the lewvcl of Ortsgruppcinlcitors,

he issucd dircetions rogulating the tpcatment of foreieh

5

)
)
i

r

workcrs, pointing out thoy werc subjcet to S5 control on
sceurity problcns, cnc ordercc thg‘prcvious mistrcotrniont €o
ccnses « roport of 4 Scptombor 1942 rclating to the trensfor
of 500,000 femalec Comestic workers from the Bost to Gormrny
showcd that control wos to bc oxcreiscd by Scuckel, Hirnnmlor

-

end BDornmanne, Souekol by deerco of 8 Scoptorber Cirecctod tho
Krolslciters to supcervisoe the “istributicon nnd essignnont
of thesc fontlc laborcrs,.

Bormann ~lso izsuned o scrios of ordors to the Perty
Leacders doolinz with the treantniont of prisonors of wnr.

On 5 November 1941 he prohibitcd <dcecnt buricls for Sussicon

prisoncrs of wir, On 25 Novcenmber 1943 ho
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dirceted Gaulciters to report cases of lenient treatment of prisoners of
wore And on 13 Scptember 1944 he ordered liaison between the Kreisleiters
with thc camp commandants in determining thc usc to be made of prisoners
of war for forced labour., On 29 January 1943 hc transmitted to his
lcaders OKV instructions allowing the usc of firecarms, and corporal
punishment on rcealcitrant prisoncrs of war, contrary to the Rules of

L~nd Werforc, On 30 Scptomber 1944 he signed a decree t-king from the
OKil jurisdiction over prisoners of war and handing them over to Himmler
and the SS.

Bormann is responsible for the lynching of Allied a2irmen, On 30
May 1944 hc prohibited any police :ction or criminal procceaings agairs t
persons who had taken part in the lynching of Allied Fliers. This was
accompanied by a Gocbbels! propagrnds campaign ineiting the German peoplk
. to takc action of this naturc and the conference of 6 June 1944, where
rcgulations for the application of lynching werc discusscd.

His counsel, who has labourcd urder difficulties, was unable to
rcefute this cvidence., In the face of thesc documents which bear Bormann's
signaturc it is qifficult to sce how hc could do so even were the defend-
ant prescnt, Counscl has argued that Bormann is dead and that the
Tribunal should not av-il itsclf of Article 12 of the Charter which
gives it the right to take proccedings in absentia. But the evidence
of death is not conclusive, and the Tribunal, as previcusly stated,
determined to try him in abscritia, If Bormenn is not dead and is later
apprchended, the Control Council for Germany may, under Article 29 of
the Charter, consider any facts in mitigation, and alter or reduce his

sentcnce, if deemcd proper.
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Conclusion

The Tribuncl finds that ﬁorm:nn is not guilty on Count Onc, but
is guilty on Counts Thrce and Four,

TH” PRESIDENT: Before pronouncing scntonce on .any of th. dufund\nts,
and whilc 211 of the dufhnd;nts arc prescnt, thu'Tribunal tzkes the
occrsion to ndvis. thom thot any ~oplic tions for clumency of the Control
Council must b. lodged with the G.ner-l Scerct ry of this Tribun.l within
four d~ys from tod:y.

The Tribun~l will now odjourn and will sit ug;jg'at ten ﬁinutcs to
thrcc,

(A recoss wns token until 145C hours. )
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AFTERNCCN SIZSSICY

(The Tribuncl roconvencd 2t 1450 hours,)

THD T@ESIDENT: In accordance with Article 27 of the Ch-rtur, the
Internntionnl iilitary Tribunal will now pronounce the sentunc.s on the
defind-nts convictcd on thi: indictment,

Defundont Hermenn filhelm Goering, on thv counts of thu indictment on
which you have beuen convicted, the Internationnl Military Tribun-l scentonces
you to de~th by h-nging,

Dcefendnt Rudolf Hess, on the counts of the indietment on which you have
bcen convicted, the Tribunal sontences you to imprisonment for lifc.

Defendont Jo-chim von Ribbontrop, on the counts of the indictment on
which ycu hove been convietud, the Tribunol scntence: you to derth by hanging.

vaundﬁgt "Mlhcdlm Keitel, on the counts of the indietment on which you have
becen convicted, the Tribun-l sentenecs you to dchtﬁ by h-ncing.

Defendrmr. Ernst Koltonbrunncr, on the counts of the indictment onwhich
you have been eonvieted, the Tribun-1l sontoncess you to death by hon ing.

Defend-nt Alfred Roscnberg, on the couhts of the indictment on which you
havce becn convicted, the Tribunal svntpncbé you to de¢ th by hanging,

Dufund :nt Hons Fro.nk, on the counts of th. indictment on whic!. you h ve
bucen convieted, tho Trinun-1l sentonces you to de:rth by hanging,

Dufond nt 7ilh.lm Frick, on the counts of the indictment on which you h-ve
bcen convieted, the Tribunnl scntoncoes you to denth by h nging.

Defund .nt Julius streicher, on the count of the indictment on which you
have been convieted, the Trinunal scntences you to d;ath by h nging

Dcfond nt 1 lther Funk, on the counts of the indictment on which you
have been convietoed, the Tribunel scntunces you to imprisonment for 1lifc.

Defund~nt K~rl Do.nitz, on the counts oi the indictment on which you have
been convieted, the Tribun-l s.nbtinccs you to ton yo.rs imprisonment,

Dcfend nt “rieh Racder, on the counts of the indictment on which you
hove beuen convicted, the Tribuntl s ntencus you to imprisonment for 1lifc.

Dofend-nt B 1ldur von Schir-ch, on th. counts of thc indictmnt on which
you havc bucn convicfed, the Tribun 1 scntonccs you to twenty ye rs imorison-
m nt,

Dufund-nt Fritz S-uck.l, on th. counts of thc indictmcnt on which you
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h:wve been convictod, the Tribunal Sbn£unCQS you to dc¢ th by hanging,

Dcefendnnt Alfrod Jodl, on the counts of the indictment on which you have
bcen convicted, the Tribunnl scntences you to death by h nging.

Defend nt Arthur Sciss-Inquart, on the counts of the indictment on which
you h~ve boen convicted, the Tribun~l scntences you to dexth by hanging.

Dcfendrnt Albert Speer, on the counts of the indictment on which you hive
bcen convieted, the Tribun”l s.ntences you to twenty yo rst! imprisonment,

Dcfendant Konstontin ven Neurath, on the counts of the indictment on
which you havce becen convictoed, the Trigun lISUntwncvs you to fiftecn yenrs!
impriscnment,

The Tribun-l s.ntences the Dofund nt M-rtin Borm nn, on th. counts of
the indictmont on which he hs been convicted, to dec th by h nsin-,

I h-ve =n cnnouncement to make,  The Sovict bumbor of the Intornational
¥ilitery Tribunzl desircs to rocord his dissbnt from the decisions in the
cases of the Dufundrnts 3¢h-cht, von P pcn, :nd Frit sches Hc is of the
opinion that they should h.we been convieted 'nd not acgaitted.

Ho also d&ssvnts from the deeisions in respect to the R“ichs C binct, the
Gener 1 Stoff  nd High Comm nd, becing of the opinion thot they should have buen
declarcd to be crimin-l org nizations.,

Hc nlso disscnts from th. docision in the eaxsc of the s.ntunce on the
Dofend<nt Houss, ~nd is of the opinion thot the sentence should hiuve been
dcnth, and not 1lifc impfisonmcnt.

This disscnting opinionAwill bec put into writing a.nd ~nnexcd to the
judgment ~nd will be published ~s soon ns possiblc,

“(The Tribun~I ~djourn.d.)
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DISSENTING OPINION

of the Soviet Member of the International Military Tribunal, Major General
Jurisorudence I.T. Nikitchenko on the Judgment concerning defendants
Schacht, von Papen, FritBeche and Hess and the accused organizations:
Reichscabinet, General Staff, and OKW,

The Tritunzl decided:

a) to acquit the defendants Hjalmar Schacht, Franz von Paven and

Hans Fritzsche;

b) to sentence the defendant Rudolf Hess to life imvrisonment;

c) not to declare criminal the following organizations: the

Reichscabinet, General Staff and OKW,

In this resvect I can not agree with the decision adooted by the
Tribunal as it does not corresvond to the facts of the case and is based

on incorrect conclusions.

1. THE UNFOUNDED ACQUITTAL OF DEFENDANT SCHACHT

The evidence, submitted to the Tribunal in the case of Schacht, confirms
the following facts:

a) Schacht established contact with Goering in December 1930 and with
Hitler at the beginning of 1931. He subsequently established contact between
the leadersihip of the Nazi Party end the foremost revresentatives of the German
induetrial and financisl circles. This, in particular, is confirmed ®y the
testimony of Witness Severing (Transcript, Afternoon Session, 23 May 1946;
also US-615).

b) In July 1932 Schacht demanded that Paven resign his vost as Reich
Chancellor in favour of Hitler. This fact is confirmed by Paven's testimony
at the vreliminary interrogation and by Schacht's own testimony in Court
Transcrip, Afternoon Session, 2 May 1946,

¢) In November 1932, Schacht collected siznatures of German indus-
trialists, urging them %o come out for Hitler's apvointment as Reich Chancell
On Naovember 12, 1932, Schacht wrote to Hitler:

"I have no doubt that the way we are directing the course
of events can only lead to your apoointment as Reich
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Chancellor. We are trying to secure a large number of

signatures among the industrial circles to ensure your

apoointment to this post." (Z - 6, Us-773, PS-3901, US-837).

d) In February 1933 Schacht organized the financing of the ore-election
campaign conducted by the Nazy Party, and demanded at the conference of
Hitler and Goering with the industrialists, that the latter vrovide three
million marks (D-203). Schacht admitted in Court that he had pointed out
the necessity for vroviding the Nazi leaders with-this sum (Transcriv,
Afternoon Session, 3 May 1946), while the Defendant Funk and the former mem-
ber of the management of "I.G, Farbenindustrie" Schnitzler, who were
present at this conference, both confirmed that it was Schacht who was
the Initiater of the financing of the vre-election camvaisn. (Transcriot
4 July 1946, and EC-439, US-618).

e) Utilizing his prestige, Schacht also reveatedly admitted in his
public statements that he asked for the support in the elections of both
the Nazi Party and of Hitler. (US-615, Transcrivt, Afternoon Session,

2 May 1945).
On 2 August, 1932, Schacht wrote to Hitler:
"No matter where my activities lead me in the near future,

even if some day you see me imprisoned in a fortress, you
can always depend on me as your loyal aide." (EC-457, US-619).

Thus, Schacht conscionsly and deliberately supoorted -the Nazi Party and
actively aided in the seizure of vower in Germany by the Fascists. ZEven
prior to his apvointment as Plenivotentiary for War Economy, and immediately
after the seizure of vpower by the Nazis, Schacht led in olanning and develo-
ping the German Armaments, as follows:

a) On 17 March, 1933, Schacht was avvointed President of the Reichsbank
(PS-5021, US-11), and as he himself stated in a sveech before his Reichsbank
collearues on 21 March 1938, the Reichsbank under his management was "none
other than a national socialist institution” (Transcribt, Afternoon Session,
3 May 1946).

b) In August, 1934, Schacht was appointed Reich Minister of Economy
(PS-3021; US-11). His Ministry "was given the task of carrying out the eco-
nomic prevaration for war." (EC-128, US-623). A special decree granted

Schacht in his czpacity of Reic: Minister of Economy, unlimited authorify.
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1in the field of economy /"Reichsgesetzblatt! for 1934, Part 1, p. 565/.

¢/ Making use of these powers in 1934 Schacht launched upon the
execution of the "new vrogram" develoved by him /"Reichsgesetzblatt", 1934,.
Part I, v. 826/, and, as Schacht I myself noted in his sveech of 29
November, 1938, this organization played a tremendous vart in the course
of Germany's rearmament ?EC-6li; U -62/.

d/ For the purpose of the most effective execution of this 'new
program' Schacht used the property and means of those volitical enemies of
the Ngzi Regime, who either he<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>